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1                   P R O C E E D I N G S

2 WELCOME

3           MS. BENT:  Good morning.  Thank you all for

4 joining us today for our patient-focused drug

5 development meeting for long COVID.  I'm Robyn Bent, the

6 director of patient-focused drug development within the

7 Center for Drug Evaluation and Research at the FDA.  I

8 will serve as a discussion facilitator for today's

9 meeting.

10           We have a full agenda planned for the meeting

11 today.  We'll start with hearing opening remarks from

12 Admiral Rachel Levine.  After Admiral Levine's opening

13 remarks, we'll hear from Dr. Theresa Mullin, associate

14 center director for strategic initiatives in the Center

15 for Drugs, who will talk about FDA's patient-focused

16 drug development efforts.

17           We'll then spend some time hearing from Dr.

18 Hilary Marston, the chief medical officer of the FDA,

19 who will provide us with a background on long COVID just

20 to set the stage for the meeting.

21           We'll then move into our discussion with

22 individuals who are living with long COVID and their

23 loved ones and advocates.  We have three sessions.  Our

24 first session will focus on the health effects and daily

25 impacts of long COVID that matter most to individuals.
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1 Our second session will focus on your thoughts about

2 current approaches to managing long COVID.  And our

3 third session will focus on considerations when choosing

4 whether or not to participate in a clinical trial, what

5 are some of the things that make participation easier

6 and what might make it harder.  I'll better explain the

7 meeting format and process right before we get into our

8 first panel session.

9           Before we begin, I'd like to go over a few

10 logistic and housekeeping points.  This meeting is

11 taking place in a fully virtual setting and is focused

12 on hearing from people who have personal experiences

13 with long COVID.  Throughout the day, we'll have polling

14 questions.  You'll be able to answer those polling

15 questions using a cell phone or any type of computer or

16 tablet.  We'll talk a bit more about that in a few

17 minutes.  In addition to the polling questions, you'll

18 have the opportunity to share your experiences by either

19 using the chat feature in the bottom right corner of the

20 meeting screen or by calling the phone number that we'll

21 be putting up on the screen throughout the meeting.

22           As I mentioned, we'll be taking calls

23 throughout the meeting from people with personal

24 experiences with long COVID.  We're set up to take calls

25 and receive comments in both English and in Spanish, so
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1 please share your experiences in either language.

2           One request that we have is that since the

3 interpreters are simultaneously translating the meeting,

4 if you do call in to speak with us, please try to speak

5 slowly and clearly so the interpreters are able to

6 effectively translate English to Spanish and Spanish to

7 English.  If we set things up correctly, you'll not hear

8 the translation while you're speaking.  This meeting is

9 being webcast in both English and in Spanish.

10 Captioning is available in both languages as well.  The

11 live webcast is being recorded.  Both the webcast and

12 transcripts of today's meetings will be archived on our

13 website.

14           And with that, it is my pleasure to introduce

15 Dr. Admiral Rachel Levine who will provide our opening

16 remarks for the meeting.  Admiral Levine serves as the

17 17th assistant secretary for health for the U.S.

18 Department of Health and Human Services and is the head

19 of the U.S. Public Health Service Commissioned Corps.

20 She fights every day to improve the health and wellbeing

21 of all Americans.  She's working to help our nation

22 overcome the COVID-19 pandemic and build a stronger

23 foundation for a healthier future, one in which every

24 American can attain their full health potential.

25           Admiral Levine's storied career first as a
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1 physician in academic medicine, focusing on the

2 intersection between mental and physical health,

3 treating children, adolescents and young adults and then

4 as Pennsylvania's physician general and later as

5 Pennsylvania's secretary of health.  She addressed

6 COVID-19, the opioid crisis, behavioral health and other

7 public health challenges.

8           Admiral Levine, I invite you to turn on your

9 camera and unmute your microphone, ma'am.

10 OPENING REMARKS

11           DR. LEVINE:  Well, thank you very much.  Good

12 morning, and thank you for that kind invitation.  And

13 I'm very pleased to be with you today.  It is truly my

14 honor to hear from people with long COVID, their

15 advocates and those that care for them.  So thank you

16 for the FDA for hosting this meeting.

17           In April of 2022, President Biden issued a

18 memorandum and fact sheet accelerating the whole of

19 government efforts to prevent, detect and treat long

20 COVID, and he tasked HHS with hearing the charge.  We

21 convened our federal partners through the long COVID

22 Coordination Council to facilitate this work, and we

23 released two reports.

24           The first was the "Services and Supports for

25 Longer Term Impacts of COVID-19" report.  This is a plan
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1 that outlines over 200 federally funded supports and

2 services for individuals experiencing long COVID and

3 associated conditions and also mental health substance

4 use issues and bereavement.

5           The second report was the "National Research

6 Action Plan on long COVID," a plan that lays the

7 groundwork for a comprehensive and equitable research

8 strategy to inform our national response.

9           Since the publication of the reports in August

10 2022, we have continued to work with federal partners,

11 including agencies such as the FDA.  Most people who

12 have COVID-19 recover quickly and completely.  But some

13 people continue to experience new, persistent and

14 reoccurring symptoms or conditions for weeks, months or

15 even years after the initial infection, and this has

16 been termed long COVID.  I think everyone here today is

17 familiar with this concept of long COVID and have been

18 drawn to this forum to share the ways in which long

19 COVID has impacted their lives, whether as a patient, a

20 provider, a researcher or an innovator.  So thank you

21 for being here today and thank you sincerely for helping

22 us better understand what long COVID is and how we can

23 help people.

24           Our driving focus is to ensure that everyone

25 knows that long COVID is real.  I'm going to repeat that
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1 one.  Our driving focus is to ensure that everyone knows

2 that long COVID is real.  We want to help people

3 recognize that if they have long COVID and they have the

4 symptoms, that they should get care and support for

5 their symptoms and their condition as soon as possible.

6           Earlier this month, we issued an updated fact

7 sheet that detailed the progress that has been made

8 towards the goals to prevent, detect and treat long

9 COVID.  In acknowledgment of the continued need for

10 resources and supports, I visited Children's National

11 Hospital Medical Center, and I visited their post-COVID

12 conditions clinic in DC, where I heard from patients, I

13 heard from children, from their families and their

14 providers about the work that they're doing and the work

15 yet to be done.

16           In the last year, I have traveled across the

17 United States, stopping in cities such as New Haven,

18 Kansas City and Richmond to bear witness to the impact

19 of long COVID on individuals and their families, as well

20 as the health care systems that seek to care for them.

21 People living with long COVID, their families, their

22 healthcare workers and researchers have shared with me

23 the barriers in accessing treatment, from the barrier of

24 providers that people have seen who don't believe that

25 long COVID is real.  Other barriers include long wait
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1 times for specialist appointments and the lack of

2 treatment options for the variety of symptoms that

3 people have.  People I have seen and their families and

4 their providers have implored us to do more and to start

5 translating research into therapeutics so people can get

6 the help that they need as soon as possible, to provide

7 pathways to remission of symptoms and a pathway to

8 recovery.

9           Providers have shown us that they do see

10 patients improve.  It's a very important point, always

11 important to have hope, but it does take time.

12 Foundational research is already providing valuable

13 insights in informing the development of long COVID

14 clinical trials.  These clinical trials will help find

15 the treatments that you need to help relieve the most

16 challenging symptoms that people have.  These clinical

17 trials will test more than a dozen potential treatments.

18 It is critical even in this moment, though, that knowing

19 that you need help today, we need to listen to you.  And

20 we want to listen to you today.  We want to learn from

21 you, from your caregivers and from healthcare workers

22 and all of those with lived experience.

23           Today, as the FDA hosts us in this virtual

24 public forum, and as significant progress has been made

25 towards the understanding of how to treat long COVID, we
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1 want you to help us take a step forward, one more step

2 forward.  We want to understand the symptoms that most

3 impact your life, how you're treating them, what factors

4 would you consider when determining whether you would

5 participate in a clinical trial.  And through this

6 collaboration with you, we recommit to addressing the

7 longer term impacts of the worst public health crisis

8 that the world has seen in a century and to accelerate

9 understanding and breakthroughs and to do that together,

10 to do that as a partnership.

11           Beyond the winding down of the public health

12 emergency for COVID-19, HHS will continue to address the

13 needs of the long COVID community and continue to

14 partner with patients, with states, industry, with

15 advocates, with academic medical centers and more to

16 ensure our commitment to protecting public health and

17 wellbeing.

18           In the past year, we have made significant

19 progress in the fight against long COVID through

20 developing supports and services, through the research

21 being done at the NIH, the CDC, the VA and more, we have

22 made progress.  But we are certainly not done yet.

23 Agencies across the U.S. government continue to work

24 together to conduct research to draw on the lived

25 experiences of those with long COVID and of those who
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1 care for them and develop more supports and services.

2 We want to provide opportunities to work together to

3 disseminate information and resources, implement and

4 support critical activities and to advance the science

5 like today's FDA patient-focused drug development

6 meeting.

7           So thank you again for hosting me.  I

8 appreciate your dedication, I appreciate your commitment

9 and I appreciate your enthusiasm for convening in

10 support of these public health goals.  We know that long

11 COVID is real, and events like today's allow us to

12 answer your most urgent calls to action.  I look forward

13 to continuing to work with you, and I want you to know

14 that your support is very important to me, Admiral

15 Rachel Levine, the assistant secretary for health.  It

16 is very important to our secretary, Secretary Becerra

17 and the work of this department as we all work together

18 to improve the health of all Americans.  Thank you.

19           MS. BENT:  Thank you, Admiral Levine.  Thank

20 you and your office for working so hard with us on this

21 meeting.  We really appreciate it, especially given how

22 busy I know you've all been.

23           I'd like now to invite Dr. Theresa Mullin to

24 unmute and turn on her camera to provide us with a

25 little background on the FDA patient-focused drug
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1 development program and on these patient-focused drug

2 development meetings.

3           As I mentioned, Dr. Mullin serves as CDER's

4 associate center director for strategic initiatives.

5 She oversees areas of strategic interest to external

6 stakeholders.  She was instrumental in the creation of

7 the patient-focused drug development program, and she

8 leads CDER's international work.  Dr. Mullin previously

9 served as director of CDER's Office of Strategic

10 Programs.  Before joining the Center for Drugs in 2007,

11 Dr. Mullin was assistant commissioner for planning in

12 FDA's Office of the Commissioner.

13           Dr. Mullin, please go ahead.

14 OVERVIEW OF FDA'S PATIENT-FOCUSED DRUG DEVELOPMENT

15 INITIATIVE

16           DR. MULLIN:  Thank you, Robyn.  Thank you so

17 much for joining us today for this meeting.  And as

18 Robyn said, I'm going to provide you with a brief

19 overview on FDA's patient-focused drug development

20 initiative, And this meeting is part of that.  And so,

21 next slide, please.

22           So to begin with, what is FDA's role in

23 medical product development and evaluation?  Well, FDA

24 has a broad portfolio, and part of our mission is to

25 protect and promote public health by evaluating the
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1 safety and effectiveness of new drugs.  And while we

2 play a critical role in drug -- oversight of drug

3 development, and that's one part of bringing products to

4 market, FDA does not develop drugs or conduct clinical

5 trials.  Instead, our review divisions at FDA, for

6 example, the Division of Neurology, Division of

7 Psychiatry, Cardiorenal, many others, provide regulatory

8 oversight of the drug development process and make

9 decisions based on a review of the evidence that's

10 generated in those studies, and on that basis, decisions

11 about approval of new drugs and guidance to industry

12 related to these matters.  Next slide, please.

13           And so what is patient-focused drug

14 development, or PFDD?  Well, this is a systematic

15 approach to ensure that patients' experiences and

16 perspectives and their priorities and needs are captured

17 systematically and incorporated into drug development

18 and evaluation.  And next slide, please.

19           This is really important to FDA decision-

20 making.  Patients are uniquely positioned, as we

21 understand at FDA, to inform our understanding of the

22 clinical context for drug review and regulatory

23 decision-making.  And by that I mean, what is the

24 severity of this condition?  What is it like to live

25 with the condition and what treatments are available and
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1 how well are they working or not working?  And prior to

2 setting up this program, PFDD, the only mechanism we

3 really had available to us to gather patient input were

4 the sort of discussions we might have about a specific

5 application in the context of an advisory committee

6 meeting.

7           And only a few patient representative

8 typically speak at those meetings, and there's a

9 screening process, and so we don't really have a good

10 opportunity in those settings to get the input from the

11 full community of people experiencing a particular

12 condition.

13           So these meetings, like the one today, give us

14 a better way to more systematically collect that range

15 of perspectives on the severity of the condition and

16 what it's like and its impact on people's daily lives

17 and their assessment of what's available and how well

18 those treatments are working or not.  Next slide,

19 please.

20           So this slide is really meant -- I think that

21 timeline is kind of pale, so you may not be able to see

22 it very well, but this slide is conveying that the

23 project, this effort began about 10 years ago.  And in

24 2012, we had our first -- we set up this program.  And

25 from 2013 to '17, we really sort of made it a bit of a
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1 pilot effort and conducted 24 different meetings in

2 different disease areas.

3           Oh, okay -- and basically this allowed us to -

4 - there was so much interest in these meetings that we

5 wanted to expand our ability to have them.  And so we

6 set up an externally led option here.  And this is where

7 patient groups lead the effort to set up and plan the

8 meetings.  And we assist them and we go to the meetings.

9 We're able to join the meetings.  And it's just been

10 extremely valuable to us.  Both the ones that FDA leads

11 and the ones that patient groups lead really have given

12 us a lot of important input.  Next slide, please.

13           And this slide shows you just the range of

14 conditions that FDA has and the ones that FDA has

15 conducted.  And I want you to note that literally 10

16 years ago today, we had our first patient-focused drug

17 development meeting.  And that meeting focused on

18 chronic fatigue syndrome and myalgic encephalomyelitis.

19 And that first meeting, we didn't know how it would go.

20 We found it so powerful and it really made us realize

21 how meetings like this can help us really understand.

22 We're hearing directly from patients.  And so in

23 addition to the about 30 meetings that we've held, there

24 have been over 80 meetings that have been conducted

25 externally.  And so this has really been a valuable
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1 opportunity for FDA and to listen and for patients to be

2 able to share their perspective.  Next slide, please.

3 Next slide, please.

4           Thank you.  So the format of these meetings is

5 sort of a town hall style.  We usually begin with an

6 overview provided by one of the FDA doctors on the

7 clinical background and currently available treatments,

8 and that's followed by panel sessions.  The first panel,

9 typically we'll have a focus on symptoms and daily

10 impacts that begins with having a sort of panel of

11 patients and caregivers who provide a range of

12 perspectives and share their experiences.  And that sort

13 of sets the stage for a broad facilitated discussion

14 where we hear from everyone and we get the opportunity

15 to hear from everyone who's participating in the meeting

16 and wants to share what their experience has been.

17           That's followed by a session kind of similarly

18 structured that looks at treatment options, and again

19 begins with a panel of individuals' perspectives and

20 what they've experienced to set the stage for that

21 broader facilitated discussion.  Next slide, please.

22           And so these meetings, each of them are

23 tailored a little bit to the disease and the questions

24 that may be of particular interest to try to understand

25 better how we can develop treatments that are more
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1 effective and better for patients and maybe the issues

2 around trials or other aspects of drug development.

3           And we have a wide range of participants, but

4 we want everyone to remember that these meetings are

5 really intended to hear directly from patients and

6 caregivers.  And so we're going to ask others to just

7 remain in listening mode through these discussions so we

8 can all benefit from hearing that perspective from

9 patients, caregivers and patient representative.

10           After these meetings, we often have a docket

11 that we'll open to receive further public input and

12 comments, things people may not have been able to share

13 or thought of during the meeting.  We'll put that

14 together with what we hear in the meeting and the

15 recordings of the meeting to try to develop a very

16 comprehensive report.  We develop these reports called

17 "Voice of the Patient" reports.  And in fact, if you

18 were to go to your favorite search engine and check into

19 "Voice of the Patient" or patient-focused, you'll find

20 the repository that we have there.  But we want to have

21 that report as a resource for future reference for our

22 reviewers and for drug developers, patient groups and

23 others.  And with that, I'll conclude and thank you

24 again for joining us today and look forward to hearing

25 your perspectives today.
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1           MS. BENT:  Thank you, Dr. Mullin.  I think

2 it's clear from the number of people participating in

3 the meeting today that patient-focused drug development

4 and these PFDD meetings really play an important part in

5 incorporating the patient voice into medical product

6 development.

7           And now I'd like to ask Dr. Hilary Marston to

8 turn on her video and, as soon as I finish her

9 introduction, begin her presentation.  Dr. Marston

10 trains in internal medicine and global health equity at

11 Brigham and Women's Hospital.  Currently, she is the

12 chief medical officer of the FDA.  In this role, she

13 serves as the primary clinical advisor to the

14 commissioner and oversees the Office of Clinical Policy

15 and Programs.

16           Before joining the FDA, Dr. Marston was senior

17 advisor for global COVID-19 response on the White House

18 COVID-19 response team.  Dr. Marston has also served as

19 the director for medical bio preparedness and response

20 at the U.S. National Security Council and as medical

21 officer and policy advisor for pandemic preparedness,

22 focusing on emergency infectious disease preparedness

23 and response at the National Institute for Allergy and

24 Infectious Diseases at the National Institutes of

25 Health.
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1           Dr. Marston, thank you so much for joining us

2 today.  Please go ahead.

3 BACKGROUND ON LONG COVID

4           DR. MARSTON:  Thank you so much for that kind

5 introduction and thank you for the invitation to --

6           MS. BENT:   Dr. Marston, I'm going to ask you

7 to stop for one moment.  We are having just a brief

8 issue with the translation.

9           DR. MARSTON:  No problem.

10           MS. BENT:  Do we have the translation setup

11 handled?

12           INTERPRETER:  Confirming the Spanish

13 interpretation has resumed.  Thank you.

14           MS. BENT:  Excellent.  Thank you.  Go ahead,

15 Dr. Marston.  I apologize for interrupting you.

16           DR. MARSTON:  No apologies.  That's so

17 important.  Thank you.  Important to pause for that.  So

18 what I would like to do today is talk first about the

19 terms and definitions; Next, go into some of the

20 clinical features of long COVID, some potential causes,

21 what we understand currently about epidemiology, the

22 treatment options and regulatory challenges for drug

23 development.  And I think what you'll hear throughout

24 this talk are a couple of emerging themes.  Number one

25 is we've learned a tremendous amount about long COVID.
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1 But number two is that we have a ways to go in this area

2 and that's why fora like today are so essential to

3 progress in this area.  Next slide.

4           So first, long COVID terminology.  So long

5 COVID is a patient-created and now widely accepted term.

6 You will hear other terms that are thrown around in this

7 space, but we have really been working to help coalesce

8 towards this term with the leadership of patients.  So

9 other terms that you'll hear include post-COVID

10 conditions, post-acute sequalae of SARS-CoV-2 infection,

11 long-term effects of COVID, post-acute COVID syndrome,

12 and more.  But long COVID is the one that we're going to

13 use for the purposes of today and indeed across the

14 federal government.  Next slide.

15           And this was actually quite intentional on the

16 part of the federal government.  So recognizing that

17 patient-created term, the government built on that with

18 a cross-HHS working group that sought to further define

19 long COVID.  And what we came up with is defined on this

20 slide here.  So I'm not going to read everything here,

21 but the most important thing is that it's broadly

22 defined and includes a wide range of signs and symptoms

23 that continue or develop after initial COVID-19.

24           Importantly, it's likely not one condition,

25 but it represents many overlapping different entities
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1 and likely they have different biological causes and

2 that's something we'll go into in a little bit more

3 detail.  So this was the proposed definition shown on

4 this slide and this has been a source of some ongoing

5 discussion and indeed our colleagues over at the

6 National Academies are looking at this definition in

7 more detail, hosting a series of workshops.  There's a

8 link to those proceedings in the slide.  Next slide.

9           So next, some of the clinical features of long

10 COVID.  So I said that it includes a range of symptoms.

11 In fact, over 200 different symptoms have been reported.

12 Most commonly they seem to cluster in a set of different

13 areas.  So first, brain, ranging from headache to brain

14 fog.  But there are also conditions such as stroke.

15 Nose and nasal cavities, so this is one of the initial

16 symptoms that was discovered quite early on when SARS-

17 CoV-2 came to light, the loss of taste or smell and

18 that's something that in some folks tends to persist.

19 Lungs, this cough and ongoing shortness of breath.

20 Heart, pounding heart and variable response to changes

21 in activity.  Skin, some people can get different sorts

22 of rashes and bruises.  And kidney, there's an increased

23 risk of acute kidney injury, but often some ongoing

24 effects on the kidney function.  Next slide.

25           In terms of the possible causes of long COVID,
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1 there are a number of theories here and it's important

2 to say that while we're learning quite a bit about long

3 COVID, this is an area that we're continuing to

4 understand.  As I mentioned early on, there are likely

5 some overlapping conditions that are encompassed within

6 long COVID.  Similarly, there are likely overlapping

7 etiologies, causes that are actually leading to the

8 symptoms that patients are reporting.  So those causes

9 likely include autoimmune conditions.  Persistence of

10 the virus is a possible cause, ongoing organ damage or

11 results of existing organ damage and microclots.  So

12 microclots can exist in the acute condition but then can

13 come up over time.  Next slide.

14           In terms of how common that long COVID is, the

15 range of estimates is wide, everywhere from 5 to 30

16 percent.  Some reasons why you have such a large range,

17 number one is the different symptoms and conditions

18 being investigated.  So it depends on how you ask the

19 question.  Similarly, the bounds of time that you use to

20 define long COVID, so some individuals doing surveys are

21 looking at three weeks after initial infection.  Some

22 people say many months.  So again, that will dictate

23 what you get in your results from a survey, where the

24 study is asking the question, inpatient or outpatient

25 settings, and how symptoms are assessed, whether it is
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1 self-report, drawing from an electronic health record

2 database or formal survey.

3           There is a CDC Household Pulse Survey, which

4 has some nice methodology behind it, that came up with

5 an estimate of 6 percent.  Worldwide, that estimate is

6 about 65 million individuals globally.  So this is,

7 unfortunately, something that's being seen worldwide.

8 Next slide.

9           Factors associated with getting long COVID.

10 So first, a lot of these are similar to the

11 predisposition to getting severe COVID.  So, for

12 example, having preexisting health conditions, having

13 severe initial COVID-19 illness, lack of vaccination

14 prior to SARS-CoV-2, there's some good evidence there

15 and people who experience something called multisystem

16 inflammatory syndrome during or after COVID-19.  So

17 multisystem inflammatory syndrome is where different

18 parts of the body become inflamed that include many

19 different parts of the body, from the kidneys to the

20 brain, skin and the gastrointestinal organs.  And just

21 as it did with initial COVID-19 infection, health

22 disparities are unfortunately rearing their ugly head

23 when it comes to long COVID as well.  And that's

24 something we would like to hear more about.

25           Long COVID in children.  So just as there are
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1 uncertainties about the prevalence of long COVID in

2 adults, although it's quite clear that it is very

3 common, long COVID in children estimates range quite a

4 bit as well.  The symptoms and natural history, some

5 overlap with what's seen in adults and some do not.  So

6 this is something that certainly merits further

7 research.  Sorry.  I'm behind.  Can you go forward two

8 slides?  Thank you.  One more.  Thank you.

9           So, in terms of treatment options, so there's

10 no FDA approved drugs or authorized treatments for the

11 treatment of long COVID.  For most patients, the goal is

12 going to be to optimize their function and their quality

13 of life.  So that's why meetings like today are so

14 important, so that we understand what is most important

15 to patients in terms of those measures.  Symptom

16 management approaches, therefore, might be very

17 important here.  And management is going to change as

18 the evidence emerges.  And we hope that that will happen

19 because it means that we're developing new, better

20 approaches.  Next slide.

21           There are many challenges, though, when it

22 comes to drug development.  So first is that it's a new

23 entity and we're continuing to understand it.  That

24 includes just the epidemiology of the disease.  So

25 designing studies, it's really important to understand
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1 how common that a condition is.  Second, again, there's

2 this heterogeneity, this diversity in the symptoms that

3 people are reporting, and it might indeed be multiple

4 overlapping conditions.  That makes it, again,

5 challenging to study and understand if your treatment is

6 having an effect.  And then the tools for how we assess

7 how a treatment is working, we want to make sure that

8 those tools are accurately reflecting how patients feel,

9 because again, what we want to be developing in

10 treatments are treatments that really impact the

11 symptoms that the patients are seeing.  Next slide.

12           And one point that is important to make here

13 is that our colleagues over at the NIH have been funding

14 a series of studies under the Recover initiative that is

15 working to both understand the natural history of

16 disease, but also the effectiveness of interventions.

17           So, in conclusion, long COVID as a post-viral

18 condition can be very severe and disabling, but present

19 with diverse symptoms and symptom clusters and with

20 several potential biological causes, likely multiple

21 overlapping conditions.  There are a number of

22 challenges associated with drug development, but FDA is

23 committed to supporting drug development for long COVID

24 along with our federal partners.  And in this, it is

25 essential that we have the patient's voice front and
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1 center.

2           So to that end, thank you so much for your

3 attendance here today.  We really appreciate it, and we

4 look forward to engaging in the discussion today.

5 Thanks.

6 OVERVIEW OF DISCUSSION FORMAT

7           MS. BENT:  Thank you, Dr. Marston.  I think

8 that this is really helpful for us to have this

9 presentation to set the stage for what we're about to

10 hear from our panelists and meeting attendees who have

11 lived experiences with long COVID.

12           Moving on, I'd like to share with you all a

13 bit more about how the meeting will proceed.  It's been

14 truly an honor to work with the panelists that you'll

15 meet in just a moment as we prepared for today's

16 meeting.  And thank you to Admiral Levine and Drs.

17 Mullin and Marston for the very informative

18 presentations that give us some context to think about

19 during this next part of the meeting that really is

20 really all yours.

21           If you're new to this area of what FDA does

22 and what patient-focused medical product development is,

23 then I hope that we gave you just a little bit of a

24 background on that and especially some of the key terms

25 and words that we'll be using today.
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1           Before we get started on this next part, where

2 those of you with lived experiences with long COVID are

3 really the main participants, I just want to share a

4 little bit of information, kind of an orientation to

5 build on what Dr. Mullin talked about to help you

6 understand the meeting structure and why we've set it up

7 this way, because it's intentional.

8           Those of you who are here representing

9 yourselves or your loved ones with lived experiences

10 with long COVID, you are the experts.  And the expertise

11 that you have is what we're all here to hear about

12 today.  We've kind of flipped the script, so to speak,

13 on the type of meeting that most of us go to, where you

14 have a lot of medical professionals giving presentations

15 and having discussions while everyone else listens.

16 Today we've reversed that.  We've heard some opening

17 remarks from experts in their field, but you are experts

18 in your field.  You're the ones who know what long COVID

19 is like to live with.

20           So our goal today as we start this discussion

21 portion of our meeting is to really foster an open

22 dialogue on personal experiences and perspectives on

23 long COVID.  Our three main topics for discussion are

24 health effects and daily impacts of long COVID, followed

25 by current approaches to treatment, followed by
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1 considerations for clinical trials.

2           We'll start each session with a panel of

3 individuals with long COVID.  There are six panelists

4 for our first topic.  After hearing from the panelists,

5 we'll broaden the dialogue to include other individuals

6 and family members who are joining us on the webcast.

7 Anyone who's watching the meeting who identifies as a

8 person with long COVID or a family member or loved one

9 is welcome to participate.

10           Aside from panelists, we don't have anyone

11 else identified to speak, so we need you to share your

12 experiences in order for this meeting to be successful.

13 The purpose is to build on the experiences shared by the

14 panel, and I'll ask a number of follow-up questions.

15 Throughout the day, polling will be done via computer or

16 cell phone, and as I mentioned previously, we're taking

17 comments from online through the meeting chat feature

18 and via telephone if you've got something to add.

19           So this is your opportunity to build on the

20 information shared by panelists.  So we really hope that

21 you feel kind of the importance of your participation in

22 the meeting today, to have your experiences and

23 priorities heard, not only by the FDA and others in the

24 federal government, but from representatives from

25 medical product developers, researchers, clinicians
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1 about long COVID and what you'd like to see happen to

2 help those with long COVID.

3           So please take this opportunity, and we hope

4 that this will be your invitation to participate with us

5 in the discussion.  We encourage you to call in via

6 phone to share your comments when speaking.  You can

7 remain anonymous.  I mean, you don't have to give us

8 your first name you're your last name.  You may state

9 your full name if you want.  But really mostly what we

10 care about is you're your experience is.

11           When you call in, there are a couple of things

12 that will help us.  One is if you stay on the topic that

13 we're discussing, whatever topic we're talking about.

14 If we're talking about symptoms or if we're talking

15 about daily impact, it would be helpful if you could

16 think about the topic and stay as close as possible to

17 that topic.  It's also helpful if you can keep your

18 points to about two minutes and focus really on one or

19 two things that are particularly relevant to you so that

20 we can go on to as many people who want to speak as

21 possible.

22           For transparency, we request that at the time

23 of your first comment, you disclose if you are

24 affiliated with an organization that has an interest in

25 long COVID, or if you have significant financial
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1 interests in long COVID drug development.  If you're

2 submitting comments via the webcast, you can provide

3 whatever name you'd like.  Please don't worry about us

4 being overwhelmed by comments.  We can handle it.  We'll

5 try to summarize them as much as possible.  We'll do our

6 best to share the comments we receive via the Web

7 platform.  But if we're not able to read all of the

8 comments out loud today, your comments will be

9 incorporated into our final summary report.

10           One thing that is very exciting about our

11 meeting today is that we've had more than 1,400 people

12 registered to participate.  Of the people registered,

13 over 850 of you are either people with long COVID or

14 loved ones or patient representatives.  Now, we are

15 grateful, very grateful to the long COVID community for

16 their support of this meeting, but we also realize that

17 there may not be enough time for everyone who wants to

18 share their experiences today to do so.

19           As Dr. Mullin mentioned earlier, we have a

20 public docket for this meeting that will be open until

21 June 26th of 2023.  We encourage you to share your

22 experiences and expand upon what we discussed today

23 through the public docket.  The comments will be

24 incorporated into our summary report as well.  Anyone is

25 welcome to comment through the docket, whether you're
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1 joining us via the Web on this meeting or whether you

2 know someone who wasn't able to participate today, but

3 you think they have something to contribute.  Please

4 encourage them to submit their comments.  You'll find a

5 link on the slide here, and we'll also email this link

6 after the meeting to everyone who's registered via the

7 event website.  You can submit your comments to the

8 docket as anonymous as well.

9           And I want you to keep in mind that if you do

10 submit to the public docket, that word public is in

11 there for a reason, and this will go onto the website.

12 So please think about how much personally identifying

13 information you want to share.  We don't need that

14 information.  We care about what your experience is, so

15 please keep that in mind.  You can just say anonymous,

16 anonymous, or leave the parts empty when we ask what

17 your name is.

18           There are also just a few ground rules for

19 today's discussion.  We're here first and foremost to

20 listen to those with long COVID and their loved ones.

21 We'll try to accommodate all of those who want to speak.

22 We're happy to see a number of people who represent

23 research and medical product development registered for

24 this meeting.  We believe that the input we hear today

25 will be important to you as well.  We just ask that you
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1 stay in listening mode.

2           FDA staff is really here to listen as well.

3 We know that you may have questions about medical

4 product development or drug review.  If you have

5 specific questions, we encourage you to share them with

6 us via email.  Our contact information is on the meeting

7 website.  We'll get back to you with more information

8 following the meeting.

9           As has been described, our discussion today is

10 focused first on the health effects of long COVID and

11 daily impacts, then approaches to managing those health

12 effects and then clinical trial participation.  Our

13 discussion may touch upon scientific treatments.

14 However, the discussion of any specific treatments

15 should be done in a way that helps us to understand the

16 broader issues, such as what health effects are being

17 addressed and how that is meaningful to individuals with

18 long COVID and their loved ones.

19           Our discussion is going to focus again on

20 health effects and treatments.  We know that this is a

21 very complicated issue and there are many concerns and

22 many questions you have and things that you have to

23 think about when living with long COVID and getting the

24 support you need.  All of those are important.  However,

25 today we hope to focus on the topics that FDA needs the
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1 most input on so that we can best fulfill our role

2 regulating medical products and facilitating medical

3 product development.

4           And so, while you take in this next slide,

5 which outlines how to actively participate in the

6 meeting, I'd like to take the opportunity to ask my FDA

7 and HHS colleagues to turn -- on the panel to turn on

8 their video and introduce themselves.  And we'll start

9 with Dr. Karimi Shah.

10           DR. SHAH:  Thank you, Robyn.  Good morning.

11 My name is Bani Karimi-Shah.  I am the deputy director

12 of the Division of Pulmonology, Allergy and Critical

13 Care here at FDA, and I'm very excited to hear what you

14 all have to say during today's meeting.

15           MS. BENT:  Thank you.  Dr. Senatore?

16           DR. SENATORE:  Good morning.  My name is Fred

17 Senatore.  I'm a lead physician with the division of

18 Cardiology and Nephrology at the FDA.  And I'm excited

19 to be here, and I'm looking forward to learning from the

20 patients who've experienced long COVID.  Thank you.

21           MS. BENT:  Thank you.  Dr. Habal?

22           DR. HABAL:  Hi.  Good morning.  My name is

23 Nadia Habal, and I'm an acting clinical team leader in

24 the Division of Rheumatology and Transplant Medicine at

25 the FDA.  And I'm also a practicing adult

Page 38

www.CapitalReportingCompany.com
202-857-3376



Public Meeting April 25, 2023

1 rheumatologist, and I'm looking forward to this meeting.

2 Thank you.

3           MS. BENT:  Dr. Sullivan?

4           DR. SULLIVAN:  Hi.  My name is Shannon

5 Sullivan.  I'm an endocrinologist, and I'm a clinical

6 team leader in the Division of General Endocrinology at

7 FDA.

8           MS. BENT:  Thank you.  Dr. Stabinski?

9           DR. STABINSKI:  Hi, my name is Lara Stabinski,

10 and I am a medical officer in the Division of

11 Antivirals.  I'm also a practicing infectious disease

12 clinician.

13           MS. BENT:  Thank you.  Dr. Connolly?

14           DR. CONNELLY:  Hi, my name is Mark Connelly.

15 I'm in the Office of Vaccine Research and Review.  I'm a

16 medical officer, and I wanted to thank everyone for

17 sharing their experiences.

18           MS. BENT:  Thank you.  Dr. Weltz?

19           DR. WELTZ:  Good morning.  My name is Adam

20 Weltz.  I'm a board certified general surgeon,

21 practicing clinician, associate professor of surgery in

22 Annapolis, Maryland.  I am also a medical officer in

23 CDRH, which is Center for Devices and Radiological

24 Health, a medical officer on the team that reviewed many

25 of the infection controlled devices during the pandemic.
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1 Looking forward to hearing your stories today.

2           MS. BENT:  Thank you.  We also have Dr.

3 Marston.  I know I've introduced you, but if you want to

4 briefly just say hello again.

5           DR. MARSTON:  Hello.  Just glad to be here.

6 Thanks so much.

7           MS. BENT:  Thank you.  Admiral Iademarco?

8           DR. IADEMARCO:  Yes.  Good morning.  Good

9 afternoon, everyone.  I am Michael Iademarco.  I am the

10 deputy assistant secretary for health for science and

11 medicine in the Office of the Assistant Secretary for

12 Health with Admiral Levine.  And together we're leading

13 the long COVID coordination across 14 federal government

14 departments.  And I am a pulmonologist and ICU

15 physician, spending most of my career in public health.

16           MS. BENT:  Thank you.  Dr. Soake Adams?  All

17 right.  Dr. Patel?

18           DR. PATEL:  Good morning, everyone.  My name

19 is Priti Patel.  I'm a senior advisor for post-COVID

20 conditions at the Centers for Disease Control and

21 Prevention.  I'm an internist by training and really

22 appreciate the opportunity to be here as part of this

23 meeting today.

24           MS. BENT:  Great.  Thank you all.  You are

25 welcome to turn off your video if you would like at this
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1 point.  So from time to time during our meeting, we will

2 turn back to our FDA panelists to see if they have any

3 follow-up or clarifying questions about what we just

4 heard from our other panelists.

5           I also want to introduce my colleague, Shannon

6 Sparklin, who will be keeping an eye out for comments

7 that come in through the Internet.  She will be backed

8 up by Ethan Gabbour.  Shannon will be sharing the

9 comments throughout the meeting.  She'll also be

10 coordinating with our other colleagues, Lena Marzouk,

11 Will Lou Allen and Steven Ganache, who you'll speak to

12 if you call in to provide comments on the phone.

13 Shannon?

14           MS. SPARKLIN:  Good morning.  My name is

15 Shannon Sparklin.  As Robyn mentioned, I will be

16 reviewing the written comments that we received through

17 the webcast and summarizing them.  Thank you.

18           MS. BENT:  I see that I muted myself.  It's

19 only three years into the pandemic.  So we will have

20 some polling questions today, and we're using a third-

21 party application, Mentimeter, to run our polling.

22 Polling on Mentimeter's site, menti.com, is anonymous

23 and can be done via cell phone or on your laptop or

24 tablet.  Please note that we're not tracking individual

25 people's answers.  We'll only see the responses grouped
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1 by option.

2           You can access the Mentimeter poll in two

3 ways.  You can use your cell phone camera to view the QR

4 code on this slide, which will take you to the survey,

5 or you can go to www.menti.com and use the digital code

6 on the slide to enter the survey.  It sounds like maybe

7 we're having some issues with the Mentimeter, so we will

8 work on that and we will get that going shortly.

9 Unfortunately, the polling is also only available in

10 English, but I will read the polling questions and

11 answers so that they will be translated.

12           And so with that, let's begin with a polling

13 question.  I hear that it is working again.  So please

14 get your cell phones or computers ready.  All right.

15 Question one.  We're starting with some basic

16 demographic questions so that you can get familiar with

17 the polling platform.  And so the first question is

18 where do you live.  Option A, within the Washington, DC

19 metropolitan area, including the Virginia and Maryland

20 suburbs; option B outside of the Washington, DC

21 metropolitan area.

22           And so while you're completing the polling

23 questions, I'm going to share with you one of the

24 challenges of the virtual setting.  There is a little

25 bit of a lag between when we speak here on the backend
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1 of the meeting and then what is broadcast to the meeting

2 participants.  That lag time can be 15 to 30 seconds.

3 So you'll see the answers for polling kind of trickle

4 in.  For some questions, you'll have one answer.  For

5 others, you may have multiple answers.  These polling

6 questions are meant to be a discussion aid for today.

7 They're not a scientific survey.

8           So let's see.  All right.  It looks like

9 everything is working and we're getting responses.  I

10 don't see a lot of challenges with the application.  It

11 seems like it's starting to work, and it looks like this

12 is one of the benefits, I think, of having the meeting

13 in a virtual platform.  We really do have a large number

14 of participants who are able to join us from outside of

15 the metropolitan DC area.  And for that, we're very

16 grateful because really kind of understanding the

17 experiences of people throughout the country and even

18 more broadly throughout the world is really important

19 and helpful.

20           So let's move on to the next question.  Next

21 question, are you or a loved one currently experiencing

22 symptoms of long COVID?  A, yes; B, no.  All right.

23 Once again, it looks like we're getting some good

24 responses, and we are seeing what we would anticipate

25 from our registration, which is that a majority of the
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1 people that registered have had personal experiences

2 through their own or their loved ones long COVID.  And

3 so from this point on, we'll ask that each polling

4 question be answered only by an individual living with

5 long COVID or someone who is answering on behalf of a

6 loved one with long COVID.

7           So let's move to the next question.  Okay.

8 Here we go.  What is your age?  Remember, if you are

9 answering for a loved one, please answer with their age.

10 The options are A, 0 to 10 years old; B, 10 to 17 years

11 old; C, 18 to 29 years old; D, 30 to 39 years old; E, 40

12 to 49 years old; F, 50 to 59 years old; G, 60 to 69

13 years old; and H, 70 years or older.

14           All right.  And we're getting a good number of

15 responses, and it looks like a majority of our

16 participants today are kind of in that 30 to 60 year age

17 range, with most of our participants being -- it's

18 changing, so most of them being 40 to 49 years old, but

19 just slightly over the 30 to 39 years old.  And so I

20 think that this is maybe what we were thinking we would

21 see based on the registration as well.

22           So let me now move on to our next question,

23 which is, do you identify as, A, female; B, male; or C,

24 other?  All right.  So it looks like we have a majority

25 of female participants at the meeting, but it does look
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1 like we have a good representation from males as well.

2 So thank you all.  It looks like we have a range of

3 people participating today, all age ranges from across

4 the country.  And that's really great.  That's what we

5 had hoped for.

6           We have just two more questions, and these are

7 going to kind of delve a little bit.  We're going to

8 stop asking about demographics and really try to start

9 understanding your experiences with long COVID.  So

10 we'll move on to the next question, which is what parts

11 of your body are affected by long COVID?  And for this,

12 you can select all that apply, that includes, A, muscles

13 and joints; B, heart; C, lungs; D, brain and nervous

14 system; E, kidneys; F, liver; G, digestive system such

15 as stomach and intestines; H, blood; or I, other, such

16 as mouth, nose, hair, et cetera.

17           Okay.  So we're seeing a lot of muscles and

18 joints, brains and nervous system, and a good amount of

19 other.  And so it seems like we're seeing our

20 participants today experiencing issues with multiple

21 parts of the body that are affected by long COVID.  And

22 so we're going to hear a bit more about people's

23 experiences with long COVID in just a minute.  For those

24 of you who have selected other, I would request that you

25 think about calling in a bit later to share what you've
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1 experienced.

2           And so finally, thanks everyone.  We're going

3 to have just one more question before we move on to our

4 first panel discussion.  And that question is which type

5 of healthcare providers are you seeing for your long

6 COVID symptoms?  And you can check all that apply.  We

7 have, A, primary care provider.  This could be an

8 internal medicine provider, a family practice provider.

9 It could be a pediatrician or a pediatric nurse

10 practitioner if you are answering for your child; B,

11 long COVID specialist or clinic; C, medical specialist.

12 This could include specialty care outside of a long

13 COVID clinic.  It would include pulmonologists or

14 cardiologists or other specialists; D, chiropractor or

15 complementary healthcare provider; E, other; or F, none

16 of the above.

17           So it looks like we have a number of people

18 really working with their primary care providers as well

19 as medical specialists.  And about 18 or 19 percent --

20 oops, it's dropping, 17 percent being seen in long COVID

21 clinics.  All right.  So thank you all.  I think this is

22 really helpful information.  It'll be great as we kind

23 of move into our conversations after we hear from our

24 panel.

25           But now we're going to move right into hearing
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1 from our panelists.  So now, as I mentioned previously,

2 topic one will focus on the health effects and daily

3 impacts of long COVID.  And we have six panelists who

4 will start off the session by sharing their experiences.

5 In about 30 minutes, when our panelists are done sharing

6 their experiences, we'll move into the interactive

7 portion of the meeting by asking you about your

8 experiences.  If you hear something from our panelists

9 that really resonates with you or if you want to share a

10 bit of your experience, please consider sharing your

11 comments via the Web or closer to the end of the 30-

12 minute period around 11:30 Eastern time.  Maybe give us

13 a call to share.

14           You should also know that if you call in and

15 are placed on hold, the hold music will not be music.

16 It will be the English version of this meeting.  So you

17 won't miss out hearing from our panelists if you call in

18 to speak.  We will ask you to mute the device you are

19 listening to the meeting on just to prevent there from

20 being any audio issues.  If you are Spanish-speaking,

21 you may continue to stream the meeting.  But we ask that

22 when you are notified that we will be taking your call,

23 you mute the speakers on your device that is playing the

24 meeting.

25           And with that, we're ready to turn to our
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1 panelists.  I'd like to start by inviting Jill to share

2 her experiences with long COVID.  So Jill, if you want

3 to turn on your video, which you have on, and unmute,

4 thank you so much for being here.  And really thank you

5 for being our first panelist.

6 TOPIC 1: HEALTH EFFECTS AND DAILY IMPACTS

7           MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, and good morning.

8 My name is Jill Anderson and I would like to speak to

9 you today about my experience with long COVID.  I

10 initially became acutely ill with COVID November 7,

11 2022.  Shortly after the resolution of my acute illness,

12 I began to notice lingering symptoms and new symptoms

13 that were not present during my acute illness.  Today I

14 would like to focus on a few key symptoms out of the

15 many I endured and continue to experience.

16           One of the initial symptoms I noticed was

17 significant brain fog.  I was having difficulty

18 concentrating, thinking clearly, and my memory was so

19 impacted that I was legitimately concerned for my

20 cognitive functioning.  Simultaneously, my vestibular

21 system was also impacted.  I never had vertigo, but

22 suddenly I was constantly dizzy.  It felt like my brain

23 was banging around in my skull.  I was off-balance.  I

24 could be standing, and then all of a sudden I would just

25 lose my balance.  I would get up in the middle of the
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1 night and take a step out of bed and fall to the floor.

2 It was terrifying how my world was spinning and out of

3 balance, and I could not recall pertinent information or

4 complete sentences when trying to articulate in

5 conversation.

6           Additionally, I was experiencing significant

7 fatigue that was worsened by my brain working overtime

8 to compensate to the changes to my vestibular system and

9 cognitive dysfunction.  I also lost my appetite for

10 about three months, and it continues to come and go.

11 This was coupled with repeated bouts of severe IBS

12 flares that cause pain, cramping and bowel irregularity.

13           So far I've lost close to 20 pounds and I

14 weigh about 102 or 103 pounds currently.  Prior to

15 COVID, I was training for a 10K and two 5K races.  About

16 a month or two after my acute illness, I started

17 noticing my heart rate changing from a very low rate to

18 racing upon standing.  This led to a diagnosis of

19 postural orthostatic tachycardia syndrome, or POTS.

20 POTS is an autonomic disorder and symptoms such as

21 exercise intolerance, headaches, fast heartbeat,

22 dizziness, GI issues, shortness of breath and numerous

23 other symptoms are associated.

24           All of these symptoms discussed I continue to

25 experience.  However, they significantly ebb and flow,

Page 49

www.CapitalReportingCompany.com
202-857-3376



Public Meeting April 25, 2023

1 and every day I wake up and I have no idea what kind of

2 day I will have.  I work hard to avoid post-exertional

3 malaise or what I refer to as a crash where I'll push

4 myself too hard mentally or physically, and this will

5 exacerbate symptoms and trigger a two-week migraine or a

6 two-week IBS flare, or I'll be too dizzy to leave my

7 couch for days.  Other days I'll get glimpses of symptom

8 improvement, but those are limited.

9           All these symptoms continue to have an impact

10 on my current employment.  I'm a director of all the

11 emergency and acute behavioral health services for a

12 community services board in Virginia.  My programs are

13 responsible for the safety of the community and the

14 individuals we serve.  My career requires multitasking,

15 quick thinking and decision-making and the nature of the

16 work is intense and requires sound risk assessment.  I'm

17 on call 24/7, 365 and the role requires in-person

18 attendance as well as direct client intervention when

19 necessary.

20           I'm currently on intermittent FMLA, work

21 mostly remote and work a reduced schedule due to my

22 symptoms.  I worry if I'm unable to meet my job

23 expectations due to my -- my job expectations due to my

24 cognitive deficits, fatigue, ongoing migraines and GI

25 issues, continued need for remote work, continued
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1 crashes, that I could be moved to a different position

2 or lose my job.  I've worked in emergency services and

3 crisis work for my entire professional career of 15

4 years, and this job is incredibly important to me.  Not

5 being able to keep up with the demands of this job over

6 the past few months has been devastating.  Thank you for

7 your time.

8           MS. BENT:  Thank you, Jill.  Thanks for being

9 the first one to speak and being brave enough to share

10 your experiences with us.  There's certainly a lot there

11 and we really appreciate you sharing that.  We're now

12 going to turn to Heather-Elizabeth who is going to share

13 some of her experiences with us.

14           Heather-Elizabeth?

15           MS. BROWN:  Thank you so much.  Good morning,

16 everyone.  My name is Heather-Elizabeth Brown.  I am a

17 bivocational minister and corporate trainer in Detroit,

18 Michigan.  Currently, I serve as a patient

19 representative and committee leader with the Recover

20 initiative with the NIH.  I am also a long COVID

21 advocate, COVID survivor and clinical TRIUMPH

22 participant with long COVID research and awareness.

23           I contracted a very severe case of COVID in

24 April of 2020 during the first wave when there was

25 limited information and limited effective interventions.
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1 I contracted COVID-induced pneumonia in both of my lungs

2 that resulted in me being placed into a medically

3 induced coma and onto a ventilator for 31 days from

4 April 18th until May 19th of 2020.

5           Although I had many complications during this

6 time, including having a stroke, blood clots and

7 bleeding issues, I did survive by the grace of God.  And

8 very quickly after I began developing symptoms of long

9 COVID, things that had not presented themselves in my

10 initial infection and started to present themselves

11 maybe as early as a month or two after I first was

12 discharged from the hospital.

13           My lived experiences with long COVID cannot be

14 overstated or overemphasized.  In every area and every

15 facet, my life has been impacted.  After my initial

16 hospitalization, I continue to deal with several long

17 COVID-related issues today.  The ones that are still

18 very prevalent and that I still struggle with include

19 brain fog, extreme fatigue and residual emotional

20 challenges, including PTSD.  And as a long COVID patient

21 and a survivor, I can definitely say that every major

22 system in my body has been affected by long COVID.  That

23 includes my nervous system, from my skin to my hair, my

24 reproductive system, digestive, lymphatic, endocrine,

25 any system you can name has pretty much been affected.
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1 And long COVID has not only affected my life, but the

2 lives of my family, my friends, my elderly parents and

3 my brother who have had to sacrifice so much to continue

4 to support me during the seemingly never-ending journey.

5           Before COVID I was serving as a chaplain with

6 the Detroit Police Department.  I was very active in

7 several ministries in my spiritual community, and I

8 really enjoyed being outside and walking and taking

9 hikes and doing anything active.  However, over the past

10 years, there have been several serious long COVID-

11 related complications and symptoms that I have developed

12 that have presented particular challenges when it comes

13 to my health.

14           Over the past three years, I developed COVID-

15 induced diabetes, which necessitated me taking three to

16 four insulin shots every day for almost a year.  I was

17 not diabetic before I contracted COVID.  I also

18 developed COVID-induced high blood pressure that

19 necessitated at least two different medical leaves of

20 absence from my employer because of the challenges that

21 those faced.  I also had blood clotting issues, which

22 did result in blood clots and a stroke, which I

23 mentioned earlier.  And after my initial infection, I've

24 struggled with everything from lymphedema, loss of

25 breath support, fatigue, and again, the brain fog.
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1           So I have been lucky that in terms of my

2 limitations and the struggles that I have had with long

3 COVID my employer has been incredible and has done as

4 much as can possibly be done in order to create

5 accommodations and opportunities for me, especially

6 during the first two years when I was having

7 appointments and anything from physical therapy to

8 medical or specialist appointments anywhere from three

9 to five times every week.

10           These continuing issues have definitely

11 severely affected my career and my career trajectory.

12 Although I do now work a hybrid schedule and I do have

13 accommodations, I do still face challenges.  Brain fog

14 has been one of the notable ones, especially because as

15 a trainer, my entire business is teaching and training

16 and communicating, so having moments of not remembering

17 what I was talking about, as you can see, could be very

18 challenging.

19           Over time, I would say that my long COVID

20 symptoms have ebbed and flowed.  Some have lessened and

21 some have persisted.  I would say that obviously the

22 major ones, including the diabetes and high blood

23 pressure, have been the most challenging, and I have

24 seen steady improvement.  However, other issues, such as

25 the brain fog have necessitated that I have had to seek
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1 out different treatment options in a variety of ways,

2 whether it's with the University of Michigan Long COVID

3 Clinic.  I had a complete neuropsychological evaluation,

4 brain scans, MRIs, appointments with different

5 neurologists and specialists, and I've tried traditional

6 and nontraditional treatments, everything from

7 functional medicine to natural remedies, acupuncture,

8 sound bathing.  I've pretty much tried everything that I

9 can think of or that I've seen on the Internet in order

10 to find some relief.

11           So I am very thankful for this opportunity to

12 be here before you and to share my experience with the

13 other people who are dealing with the daily impacts of

14 long COVID.  And I definitely think that this is a very

15 important conversation and I am thankful for this

16 opportunity in this platform and everyone who is

17 participating in hopes that we can continue to move

18 forward, continue to find research and continue to find

19 a resolution for all of us who are suffering.  Thank you

20 very much.

21           MS. BENT:  Thank you.  Thank you so much,

22 Heather-Elizabeth.  I suspect that many of the

23 experiences that you mentioned are going to resonate

24 with a lot of our meeting participants as far as the

25 symptoms go, and we're going to touch more on some of
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1 these topics during the follow-on discussion.

2           Now, Linda, we're going to ask you to turn on

3 your camera and share your experiences with long COVID.

4 So please go ahead.

5           MS. VARNO:  Good morning.  My name is Linda

6 Varno.  I am a pediatric long COVID advocate whose

7 husband and child, my son, are both experiencing long

8 COVID.  I'm also the co-founder of Team Varno, which is

9 a personal blog dedicated to the care of a child with

10 long COVID.  Thank you for the invitation to participate

11 today.

12           For the past 751 days, my 14-year-old son,

13 Aidan, has been experiencing effects of pediatric long

14 COVID.  Aidan's symptoms, which have been documented on

15 our Team Varno Facebook page, began four and a half

16 months post-COVID infection.  Even with multiple PCR

17 tests, Aidan did not have a positive result.  However,

18 blood work taken at the time showed that he did have

19 COVID antibodies.  For the past two years, Aidan has

20 experienced severe, excruciating, amplified pain that is

21 centralized to his lower right back and will diffuse

22 throughout his entire body.  The pain, which does not

23 respond to pain relief medications, becomes so severe

24 that Aidan will experience nonepileptic seizures.

25 Additionally, he frequently loses control and function
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1 of his body, which impacts his mobility.

2           Aidan has difficulty thinking, decreased

3 executive function, fatigue, heart palpations, blood

4 flow problems, intermittent loss of speech, trouble

5 sleeping and is starting to forget what it was like to

6 not be in excruciating, unrelenting pain all day, every

7 day.  These symptoms affect Aidan's quality of life and

8 his fluctuating care needs.  Aidan now has a silo effect

9 in his medical chart, which includes over 12 different

10 diagnoses and multiple medical specialties.

11           His symptoms also ebb and flow, especially

12 with weather changes, and no two days of symptoms over

13 the past two years have been identical.  The extreme

14 pain, brain fog, fluctuating mobility, intermittent loss

15 of function, lack of public awareness and lack of

16 financial support are some of the significant impacts

17 pediatric long COVID has waged on Aidan and our family.

18           Parents like me are having to quit their jobs

19 to be full-time caregivers and do not have caregiver or

20 supplemental financial support.  The insufficient

21 understanding and compassion from the medical community,

22 access to quality care and options available to patients

23 and their families is limited.  Currently, Aidan is

24 receiving care for his amplified pain at a

25 neurorehabilitation clinic that is 15 hours away from
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1 home and 100 percent out of pocket.  This is the reality

2 of what families across the U.S. are doing to help their

3 children get better.  Anything.

4           A specific activity that Aidan cannot do as

5 fully as he used to is his schooling.  The mental

6 fatigue, academic requirements and attendance laws have

7 been huge hurdles for someone with medical documentation

8 of symptoms that ebb and flow.  Even with accommodations

9 and parents who genuinely care about his education and

10 future, he is struggling.  These kids are truly fighting

11 for their lives.  It's not an exaggeration.

12           Mental health care and pediatric patient

13 support groups are needed for pediatric long COVID

14 patients, their siblings and families, more than you

15 know.  Being part of a caring community matters.

16           Lastly, I want you to know that millions of

17 children experiencing pediatric long COVID, whose

18 disabilities, both visible and invisible, along with

19 their families, are suffering, experiencing unimaginable

20 trauma and are counting on your help.  We are clinging

21 to hope.  Thank you.

22           MS. BENT:  Thank you, Linda.  Thank you for

23 being here and for sharing Aidan's story.  I know that

24 he had given you permission to share his story and we

25 really appreciate hearing what it has been.
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1           MS. BENT:  So now we're going to turn to

2 Estefania.  Estefania, please go ahead and share your

3 experiences.

4           MS. OTERO:  Thank you for the invitation to

5 talk about my life with long COVID.  I'm 52 years old, I

6 live in Spain, and in January of 2021, I had COVID.  I

7 didn't vaccinate.  I'm a doctor.  The impact in my daily

8 life is complete.  I denied it in the beginning, and I

9 was depressed and I needed help.  And during these two

10 years, I've learned to live with the disease.  I've

11 learned to organize my days and to avoid physical and

12 mental fatigue as possible.  This implies physical

13 training in the mornings to recover my muscle mass and

14 maintain it.  I sleep for two hours or whatever is

15 necessary to study or to read in the afternoons.  And

16 I'm lucky to have a husband and children who are

17 grownups, who help me and have supported me throughout

18 the process.

19           The symptoms have evolved over time and they

20 have improved regarding intensity.  Physical fatigue, it

21 was overwhelming.  I lost almost all the muscle mass.

22 But once I recovered it, it still doesn't work.  I have

23 many limitations and I have to distribute it

24 consciously.  And I have pain.  I used to run half

25 marathons.  Not anymore.  I have a different pain.  It's

Page 59

www.CapitalReportingCompany.com
202-857-3376



Public Meeting April 25, 2023

1 a very intense pain that is not related to previous

2 activity.  Brain fog has improved.  I'm able to read

3 more.  For many months I didn't remember anything I read

4 and this produced anxiety.  And I only listened to music

5 or read simple things.  I still train on this, assuming

6 that I forget many things I learn.  For instance, if I'm

7 interested in a medical issue, I make slides about it,

8 although when I see them, I do not remember I made them.

9           Brain fog and physical fatigue prevent me from

10 doing my previous work as an ER physician because I

11 might not remember something quickly so as to treat my

12 patients despite I have all the information in my cell

13 phone.  And also they are not able to go quickly to the

14 third floor without a lift and not even walk through a

15 hill or to do prolonged resuscitation.  I'm in medical

16 leave and I'll see if I am able to go back to work as a

17 doctor.

18           This has also affected my personal life.  I

19 can't have a spontaneous life anymore.  Now I have to

20 plan and have a plan B just in case I have a bad day and

21 I sleep little.  I can't be out with friends late.  I do

22 not go to clubs anymore and, well, we go out at noon.

23 Well, you can't stop living.  You have to enjoy.  It's

24 very hard.  But we are survivors of COVID and we have to

25 make the most out of it.  And that's it.  Thank you very
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1 much everyone, and I encourage you.

2           MS. BENT:  Thank you, Estefania.  We're really

3 hearing a diversity of experiences with some very common

4 themes.  And so for our next panelist, we're going to

5 hear from Katie who's going to share her experience.

6           Before we hear from Katie, let me just ask our

7 panelists to speak slowly so that the interpreters are

8 able to capture the full text of what you are saying.

9 So Katie, thank you so much and please go ahead.

10           MS. DRACKERT:  Hello, everybody.  My name is

11 Katie.  I'm an artist, a first generation college

12 student, a friend to many and a daughter to my sweet

13 parents.  Before long COVID, I was a dancer, practicing

14 for at least 45 minutes at a time and taking on gigs

15 that required hours of stamina.  After a year and a half

16 of long COVID, I still don't feel confident reclaiming

17 my dancer title.  Summarizing one of the most painful

18 chapters of my life into a few minutes is difficult, but

19 I will give it my all in hopes of furthering an

20 accessible recovery process.

21           Fatigue mixed with brain fog has been one of

22 the most debilitating symptoms.  The silent and

23 invisible symptom has created a negative domino effect

24 in my life.  They are as follows: struggling with basic

25 care such as cooking, not being able to keep or find
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1 accommodating jobs, inability to read without quickly

2 tiring, falling behind in school, leading to dropped

3 classes.  Dancing pushed me into fatigue spells that

4 lasted for days, shelving my art career.  A negative

5 impact on my personal relationships.  Muscle loss due to

6 being sedentary, causing my hypermobility issues to

7 worsen, leading to more injuries.  A need for more

8 doctors' appointments, which creates more medical debt.

9 High stress due to financial instability, thus worsening

10 the fatigue.  And the financial stress has been so

11 strong from my lack of ability to work that I actually

12 experienced food insecurity for the first time.

13           I often find that those who have not

14 experienced fatigue struggle to understand what it is

15 like.  So I created some imagery.  It's as if your inner

16 dialogue becomes full of static, making it difficult to

17 sort through your thoughts without further exhausting

18 yourself or fatigue is like a phone that has been

19 charged all night long only to drop to 10 percent after

20 one call, which I think a lot of us have maybe

21 experienced, and I just don't want this symptom to be

22 underestimated.

23           Next is depression.  My friends would tell you

24 that prior to long COVID, I managed anxiety, not

25 depression.  I was a person fueled by hope.  I was
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1 anxious, but I was definitely hopeful.  The long COVID-

2 fueled depression dissolved my hope.  It furthered the

3 negative impact on my personal relationships.  I could

4 no longer feel joy, purpose or motivation.  I would have

5 very excessive crying spells out of nowhere, sleep

6 issues and suicidal ideation.  All of this made it

7 harder to find an accessible job, school more difficult

8 and further fueled the fatigue.

9           Before my second COVID infection, I thought I

10 was experiencing pure grief.  I didn't experience the

11 full-blown effects of this deposition until around six

12 weeks after my second COVID infection in May of 2022.

13 It felt like a switch had flipped in my brain and I knew

14 what was logistical and I knew that hope existed, but it

15 didn't exist within or around me.  The severity nearly

16 put me in an inpatient program and I could not pull

17 myself out of this depression alone.  It required

18 intervention from friends, my therapists and doctors.

19           And finally, it worsened my preexisting

20 medical issues.  Prior to long COVID, I knew it was

21 likely I had endometriosis, but at least it was somewhat

22 mitigated with over-the-counter treatments.  And once

23 long COVID came into the picture, my period pain was so

24 debilitating that I went to the emergency room twice.

25 They gave me prescription pain medication and that did
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1 little to nothing.  My cycle became excruciating for 25

2 days out of the month, and once again, long COVID stood

3 in between me and bettering my future.  It made my

4 asthma and my allergies much worse.  Before my

5 infections, I only needed an inhaler when I experienced

6 a common cold, and now I need it on a regular basis.

7 And at times I require a nebulizer.

8           Asthma and allergy issues made it difficult to

9 complete daily tasks.  The shortness of breath I

10 experienced on a consistent basis was absolutely

11 horrifying.  Simple things would cause shortness of

12 breath, and as a dancer, this completely broke my heart.

13           I hope we can all work together to find

14 sustainable solutions for us and relieve the isolation

15 that long COVID has brought into our lives.  I hope

16 listening to us today fosters empathy for the dire need

17 for treatments.  Thank you so much for caring enough to

18 show up today.  And thank you for taking the time to

19 listen as to how long COVID has changed my life.

20           MS. BENT:  Thank you, Katie, for sharing your

21 experiences.  And our final panelist for this topic

22 we're going to hear from is Sudeepti K.  So let me ask

23 Sudeepti -- you already have your camera turned on.

24 Excellent.  And please go ahead and share your

25 experiences.

Page 64

www.CapitalReportingCompany.com
202-857-3376



Public Meeting April 25, 2023

1           SUDEEPTI K:  Sure.  Thank you for having me

2 and thank you for everyone that has put this long COVID

3 day together.  I'm sure as you're hearing through the

4 experiences here today, some of us patients who have

5 been going through this really appreciate the strides

6 that FDA is making in this direction to make our voices

7 heard.

8           So prior to contracting COVID, I was a very

9 healthy 30-year-old.  I was very active around the

10 house, had a very busy social schedule, had vacations

11 planned and weddings and a very active lifestyle.  I

12 contracted COVID in June of 2022 and the day I tested

13 positive and went to go get a positive test at the local

14 urgent care, they noticed that my blood pressure and my

15 heart rate were a little high.  But they said that that

16 was pretty common with folks that are dealing with an

17 acute infection of COVID.  They did an EKG to make sure

18 my heart was okay and said that some of the chest

19 tightness should subside after the acute infection.

20           So as I went through the infection, I would

21 say I had a mild to moderate case of COVID at the time.

22 And after I tested negative, I started noticing that my

23 chest tightness wasn't fully going away and my heart

24 rate wasn't fully back to normal either.  It just kind

25 of continued resting.  And then I had what I now call as
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1 a high heart rate episode where I could either be active

2 or completely resting, sitting on my couch, and my heart

3 rate will suddenly shoot up to like 190 or 200 and

4 typically deep breathing will bring it down.  But the

5 first time that happened, I also had shortness of

6 breath, my oxygen had dropped and it was a very scary

7 episode to experience for someone that has never had any

8 other health issues prior to getting COVID.

9           So I was put on a beta blocker for these

10 symptoms.  But as kind of the weeks went on into July

11 and August, I noticed that I was having persistent chest

12 tightness going up into the neck region that where my

13 sore throat during COVID was the worst is, to this day,

14 a sore spot for me.  If I drink a warm beverage, I can

15 feel exactly where the sore throat was that bad.  And I

16 was put on a beta blocker to help control my heart rate.

17 But a lot of times even going from reclining to sitting

18 up or sitting to standing would shoot my heart rate up.

19           I wasn't really able to do daily activities,

20 cleaning my pets' litter, cooking, even showering and

21 exposure to heat or high temperatures was extremely

22 exhausting and I would just have to sleep for hours.

23 Over time, the beta blocker has been helpful.  I was on

24 it for about six months and recently got off it because

25 I was starting to see some recovery.  So I stopped the
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1 beta blocker in January, started to feel fairly normal,

2 and then my husband broke his wrist a few weeks ago, and

3 just the compounded stress of having to take care of him

4 and a relapse in my pets' health has caused a complete

5 relapse for me.  So I feel like I'm back at stage one,

6 but potentially worse.

7           So there are some things that are better.  The

8 chest tightness is now better, but now any kind of

9 emotional or physical stress, and by physical stress, I

10 mean cooking a meal can count as physical stress.  So

11 walking downstairs to get my mail counts as physical

12 stress, will bring all the symptoms back.  So I've had,

13 in the last couple of weeks, actually several emergency

14 room visits, a couple 9-1-1 paramedic calls, because my

15 heart rate will be so high that I feel like I'm going to

16 pass out.

17           My tests have all come back normal.  I've had

18 several images and blood work and things.  So it's

19 really an enigma as to what might be going on.  But the

20 persistent heart issues are still very much a reality

21 after what I thought was improvement over the past few

22 months.  So I'm really happy to be able to be here and

23 share my experiences, hear from others that might be

24 going through similar things.  And again, thank you to

25 FDA and team and collaborators for putting this
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1 together.

2           MS. BENT:  Thank you so much, Sudeepti.  We

3 really appreciate your sharing this.  There's a lot to

4 unpack with everyone's experiences.  And we need to

5 thank Jill and Heather-Elizabeth, Linda, Estefania,

6 Katie and Sudeepti for sharing.  And they did this

7 really to help us move the field of long COVID forward.

8 So thank all of you.

9           So let me maybe turn briefly to my FDA

10 colleagues to see if they have any clarifying questions

11 for any of our panelists and to see if they have any

12 thoughts on what they've heard.

13           Yes, please.  Rear Admiral Iademarco?

14           DR. IADEMARCO:  Yes.  Thank you.  It was

15 really, really good to hear those presentations, and I'm

16 sure it was very difficult to put them in terse terms.

17 This was touched upon, but I wouldn't mind hearing from

18 one or two of the panelist speakers/patients to describe

19 a little more about the interaction with navigating the

20 healthcare system, and especially the interaction

21 between primary care and, if necessary, specialty care.

22           MS. BENT:  Sure.  So let me maybe turn to --

23 we'll go to Katie and then Heather-Elizabeth, and then

24 Linda, and I'll just ask if you could keep your comments

25 as brief as possible because we do want to also be able
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1 to turn to people on the phone.  But when I say brief, I

2 do not mean fast.  So please go ahead and speak slowly

3 so that we can interpret it appropriately.  Thank you.

4           MS. DRACKERT:  Absolutely.  Thank you.  And

5 thank you for that question.  So my situation with

6 navigating the healthcare system required a lot of

7 waiting.  So I will say I'm lucky enough to have pretty

8 good health insurance and a long-term relationship with

9 a primary care provider.  But even with that access, I

10 still had to wait three months to get into a long COVID

11 clinic, and I had to wait months to see certain

12 specialists.  Just a lot, a lot of hurrying and then

13 waiting was my experience.  And most of the time, I

14 would say about half the time I was believed, and then

15 half of the time I would be a little put down or

16 dismissed because I'm young, I'm 28, and yeah, that's a

17 little bit about my experience.

18           MS. BENT:  All right.  Thank you, Katie.

19 Heather-Elizabeth?

20           MS. BROWN:  Hello.  Thank you.  I would say

21 that I have had a very interesting experience with the

22 healthcare system since my experience.  I have been

23 fortunate that I do have a very comprehensive health

24 plan through my employer.  So a lot of the medications

25 that I've had over the past three years, some of them
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1 have been upwards of $1,000 to $2,000 per refill that my

2 insurance has covered for the most part.  And

3 additionally, a lot of the specialists and providers

4 that I have found have been through my initial

5 hospitalization and treatment for COVID, which I think

6 has eliminated a lot of the issues that many people have

7 had with being gaslighted, with gaslighting, with

8 medical professionals, with issues with not being

9 believed or having their symptoms overlooked because a

10 lot of the providers that I worked with were the same

11 ones who saw me in the hospital when I was first there,

12 who got me through the initial hospitalization or were

13 able to bring me through the coma or some of the other

14 things that I've dealt with.

15           But I will definitely say that it has still

16 been challenging.  I similarly had to wait a long time

17 to be admitted to the long COVID clinic here in

18 Michigan.  My waive was eight or nine months, and so it

19 was quite a long time before I was able to be seen and

20 then actually scheduling those appointments.  So it has

21 been an exercise in patience and faith.  However, I do

22 find that learning and having information about being

23 your own advocate as a patient has been invaluable.  And

24 that's something that I have gotten more information

25 from with a lot of the long COVID support groups and
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1 other organizations that I've been able to participate

2 with.  And I think that that's something that needs to

3 continue to be addressed and presented to long COVID

4 sufferers who need to advocate for themselves when it

5 comes to getting proper health or medical care and

6 connecting with providers who are going to help them

7 move in the right direction in terms of recovery.  Thank

8 you.

9           MS. BENT:  Thank you.  And Linda?

10           MS. VARNO:  Yes.  Thank you.  Great question.

11 I want to highlight that when my son started having

12 symptoms of pediatric long COVID, long COVID wasn't even

13 terminology used.  So initially, when we were seeking

14 care out for Aidan and his anomaly of symptoms that were

15 occurring, my husband and I were actually abused -- or

16 excuse me, were actually accused of abusing our child or

17 sexually abusing our child.  And so that's how we were

18 presented with happenings initially.  So we were moving

19 from healthcare system to healthcare system because no

20 one was believing us, no one would listen to our son and

21 they were looking at it from a psychiatric breakdown.

22           So initially our options in April to May of

23 '21 were to put our beautiful, healthy prior to all of

24 this 12-year-old son into a skilled nursing facility, to

25 place him in a pediatric psychiatric unit or to look at
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1 pain programs which weren't comprehensive enough to

2 really meet all the needs Aidan was seeking.

3           So for nine months we went without any

4 provider helping us to really hone in on all of Aidan's

5 problems and get us to where we needed to be because

6 even our own wonderful, amazing pediatrician who has

7 been with Aidan since day one just kept saying we need

8 to get to specialists.  Who are they?  Where are they?

9 So, for us, highlighting what Heather said, familial

10 advocacy and also starting crowdsourcing through our

11 Facebook page is really what led us to getting quality,

12 amazing care at Rainbow Babies and Children's Hospital.

13 So, thank you.

14 LARGE-GROUP FACILITATED DISCUSSION ON TOPIC 1

15           MS. BENT:  Thank you, Linda.  Really, really

16 appreciate you.  And so sorry to hear about Aidan's

17 experience.  So now we are going to take a few calls.

18 We're going to start with Christine on line one.  So let

19 me see if we can do that.  Christine, can you hear us?

20           CHRISTINE:  Yes.  Yes, I can.  Can you hear

21 me?  Hello?

22           MS. BENT:  I'm not sure that we have any sound

23 from the phone.  So we'll just give it a minute to see

24 if we have any sound from the phone.

25           CHRISTINE:  Can you hear me now?  Can you hear
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1 me now?  Can you hear me now?

2           MS. BENT:  Yes.  Yes, we can.  Thank you.

3           CHRISTINE:  Oh, great.  Can you still hear me?

4 Okay.

5           MS. BENT:  Yes.

6           CHRISTINE:  Great.  Hi, everyone.  Before my

7 COVID infections in 2020, which were mild, acute

8 infections, I had a very full life.  I was 35 years old,

9 working the job of my dreams in international

10 development.  I traveled the world frequently.  I had a

11 robust social life and was a devoted daughter.  I loved

12 dancing and skiing.

13           Since my COVID infections, I am no longer able

14 to work any job, even part-time.  I am primarily

15 housebound and frequently unable to do activities of

16 daily living, like changing my clothes.  The ability to

17 shower is rare for me.  I am unable to communicate with

18 family and friends without significant physical and

19 cognitive repercussions.  When I try to do too much,

20 such as stay on a phone call too long or do house

21 chores, I become mostly bedbound for a day to a week.

22 I've gone for months feeling disoriented, as if my brain

23 is inaccessible to me only because I used my brain too

24 much over the course of one or two days.

25           I struggle with over 30 long COVID symptoms.
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1 My diagnosed post-COVID conditions are ME/CFS,

2 neurocognitive disorder, POTS, MCAS, small fiber

3 neuropathy and CIDP.  The symptoms that have had the

4 most significant effect on my life are cognitive

5 impairment and debilitating fatigue; more specifically,

6 the worsening of these symptoms following any kind of

7 physical or cognitive exertion.

8           In almost three years, I have not stopped

9 seeking treatments that might help.  I am fortunate to

10 see several specialists regularly, including, but not

11 limited to an ME/CFS specialist, neurologist, allergists

12 and immunologists, psychiatrists, gastroenterologists

13 and physical therapists for my neck pain.  I often see

14 additional specialists for second opinions.  I follow

15 several sources that report on potential long COVID

16 treatments.  I stay in touch with a large international

17 group of friends with long COVID with whom I discuss

18 which treatments we are trying and what is and isn't

19 working.

20           A successful treatment would enable me to

21 exert physically and mentally without worsening my

22 ability level and sickness symptoms.  It is imperative

23 that decision-makers at the FDA understand that drugs

24 that simply boost fatigue or cognitive function --

25 sorry, boost energy or cognitive function on any given
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1 day are not a solution and can even be harmful.

2 Whenever I try a drug that improves my energy levels or

3 my cognitive function, I exert more than I would

4 otherwise physically or cognitively.  And within a week,

5 I end up in a much worse state that cannot be helped by

6 medication, typically bedbound without enough energy to

7 grab things from my nightstand and disoriented and

8 unable to stay on a specific thought for five seconds.

9           Instead, we need treatments that prevent post-

10 exertional symptom exacerbation.  It is critical that

11 the FDA takes this into account when reviewing clinical

12 trial design.  Thank you for your time.

13           MS. BENT:  Thank you, Christine.  Really

14 appreciate you taking the time to share your thoughts

15 with us.  Let me now turn to Shawnee on line two.

16           SHAWNEE:  Hello?

17           MS. BENT:  Hello.  So I can't hear Shawnee or

18 the interpreters, but once I can, I will just ask people

19 to remember to speak slowly so that the interpreters are

20 able to interpret.  So Shawnee, if you can, go ahead.

21 Okay.  So we're going to go ahead and try to get Shawnee

22 back.  Let me turn maybe now to Shannon to see if we

23 have any comments that we want to share at this point in

24 time.

25           Shannon, are we ready to share some of those
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1 comments or should we move on to polling?

2           MS. SPARKLIN:  Yes.  I have some comments that

3 I can share.

4           MS. BENT:  Great.

5           MS. SPARKLIN:  A lot of the comments that

6 we've been receiving have been stating that they

7 resonate with what the patient panelists shared earlier

8 during the panel.  Regarding some of the major symptoms,

9 I am seeing comments related to blood pressure issues,

10 tingling and pain, light-heartedness, dizziness, brain

11 fog and onset dizziness, eye redness, pain and blurry

12 vision.  One panelist -- or one written comment said

13 that it feels like they're walking on a boat when

14 they're walking and that they experience severe

15 headaches, chronic insomnia, sore throats, rashes and

16 that they experience difficulty standing and only laying

17 down had helped their symptoms with that.

18           So overall, a lot of the comments are

19 reflective of what we have heard so far.  But I will

20 continue to monitor the comments to see what else we

21 receive.

22           MS. BENT:  Thanks, Shannon.  So let's now move

23 on to just to some polling questions.  As we mentioned

24 previously, polling is still limited to participants who

25 have lived experiences with long COVID, either as
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1 somebody with long COVID or as family members or loved

2 ones.  And so we will now move on to that.  And so the

3 first question that we have is how long or after your

4 COVID-19 illness did you begin having symptoms of long

5 COVID?  And so please select the motion: A, 0 to 1

6 month; B, 1 to 2 months; C, 2 to 3 months; D, 3 to 6

7 months; E, 6 to 12 months; F, 12 to 24 months; or G, 24

8 to 26 months or other.

9           Okay.  It looks like we're seeing a majority

10 of people who felt like their symptoms really started to

11 appear within that first month after their COVID-19.

12 But it does look like we're seeing kind of

13 representation from across the across the options with

14 one to two months and two to three months being kind of

15 the more common.  So thank you.  That's helpful

16 information.

17           Let's move on to our next polling question.

18 Which of these symptoms have you experienced because of

19 your long COVID?  Please select all that apply:  A,

20 pain, including headaches; B, learning, attention or

21 memory difficulty, for example, brain fog; C, weakness

22 or fatigue; D, shortness of breath or cough; E, racing

23 heartbeat, dizziness, postural tachycardia syndrome,

24 also known as POTS; F, post-exertional malaise or

25 exercise intolerance; G, depression and/or anxiety; H,
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1 difficulty falling asleep or staying asleep, such as

2 insomnia; and I, other.

3           All right.  So it looks like we're seeing a

4 range of symptoms and kind of a combination of symptoms

5 across the board and so with really the attention and

6 the weakness and fatigue being currently top but

7 obviously significant impact from the racing heartbeat,

8 the post exertional malaise, the insomnia and others as

9 well.

10           Okay.  So now we're going to move on to the

11 next question.  Now this next question has the same

12 options as the last question, but in this question we're

13 asking you to select the top three answers about which

14 symptoms of your long COVID are most bothersome to you.

15 And so you can select three.  And again, those answers

16 are, A, pain; B, learning, attention or memory

17 difficulty; C, weakness or fatigue; D, shortness of

18 breath or cough; E, racing heartbeat, dizziness,

19 postural tachycardia syndrome; F, post-exertional

20 malaise or exercise intolerance; G, depression and/or

21 anxiety; H, difficulty falling asleep or staying asleep;

22 or I, other.

23           And I will have to admit it's a little

24 difficult for me to see the answers.  But I think we're

25 seeing that the weakness or fatigue, the post-exertional
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1 malaise and the attention -- difficulty with attention

2 such as brain fog are really coming in as the things

3 that people find the most bothersome with pain also

4 being a significant factor and the racing heart rate or

5 POTS.  So we're really seeing that all of these are

6 having a significant impact on the people who are

7 answering the questions for this polling.  So thank you

8 for providing us with that information.

9           And then let's turn to our final polling

10 question before we turn back to our callers on the

11 phone.  And so this is the final question.  What do you

12 find to be the most disruptive aspects of long COVID on

13 your daily life?  And again, please choose up to three

14 answers: A, lost productivity, such as not being able to

15 work as much as you want or being able to attend school

16 to the extent that you need to; B, loss of physical

17 function; C, loss of job; D, impacts on relationships

18 with family and friends; E, emotional or psychological

19 impacts; F, cognitive effects such as thinking and

20 remembering; G, other; and H, none of the above.  And

21 I'm sure that this question is kind of difficult because

22 it's really hard to pick the top three for things like

23 this, right?  But we appreciate just the fact that

24 you're willing to kind of think about this and share

25 your thoughts with us about this.
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1           So we're seeing it looks like the cognitive

2 effects are a significant impact.  Lost productivity is

3 significant.  The loss of physical function is

4 significant.  Obviously, the impact on relationships

5 with family and friends is also really significant to

6 people.  And so thank you for sharing this.

7           And we're now going to turn kind of back to

8 the phones.  And so let us turn to Robert on line six to

9 share some of his experiences with long COVID.

10           Robert?

11           ROBERT:  Can you hear me?

12           MS. BENT:  Yes.

13           ROBERT:   I'm a long COVID caretaker, and what

14 we'd like you to know, my fiancée and I, is that my

15 fiancée says she feels like she's disappearing.  A year

16 ago, we could walk one mile together, and a few weeks

17 ago, we couldn't make it to the mailbox.  She sits

18 upright for less than 30 minutes per day and stands for

19 less than 10 minutes, never consecutively.  Sometimes

20 she doesn't have enough energy to speak.  Doing a

21 crossword puzzle together this past Sunday began to

22 deplete her.  We can't go to a friend's birthday party,

23 a wedding or even walk the dog to the park one block

24 from our home.

25           We are missing from public life, and what's
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1 happening to her is happening to me.  Because of her

2 sleep issues, I now sleep on the sofa every night, and

3 I'm just hoping that it'll help her sleep better and

4 heal more if I'm in a different room.  And then in the

5 morning, I wake up and I make breakfast and lunch for

6 her, and I put it on the table outside the bedroom as

7 quietly as I can so that she can get up and walk as few

8 feet as she needs to eat and hydrate herself.  And then

9 I go to work, and then I come home and I do the same

10 thing for dinner and we have a few precious hours every

11 day where we can run the risk of talking and enjoying

12 each other's company without depleting her.  So long

13 COVID has transformed our lives completely and we

14 desperately need help.

15           MS. BENT:  Thank you, Robert.  I'm so sorry

16 that you're going through this and thank you for taking

17 the time to call in and share your experiences with us.

18           Let me now turn to Shawnee on line two.

19           Shawnee?  Hi, Shawnee.  Can you hear us?

20           SHAWNEE:  Can you hear me now?

21           MS. BENT:  Yes.  Please go ahead.  I don't

22 hear any speaking.

23           SHAWNEE:  Hello?  Okay.  My name is

24 (indiscernible).  I experienced long COVID, but I am

25 also epidemiologist working with the symptoms and this
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1 condition.  In my personal experience, I moved from

2 Puerto Rico to work with COVID-19 in East Texas in

3 October 2020.  I got sick with COVID-19 in January 2021

4 and I had to leave my job and come back to Puerto Rico

5 because I was not able to do my daily living activities

6 by myself.  I fell related with chronic fatigue

7 syndrome.  I could barely stand to take a shower or walk

8 short distance.  I developed dysautonomia, like an

9 orthostatic pressure problem.  I experienced dizziness,

10 palpitations or irregular heart rate, and I also

11 experience detrimental lung function.  I expand more

12 than six months receiving respiratory therapy like three

13 times per day.  I had to buy a portable respiratory

14 therapy machine.

15           I've suffered from asthma since I was child.

16 But after COVID, I had new triggers for my asthma and I

17 could have an asthma attack any moment.  I also

18 developed depression, anxiety and post-traumatic

19 disorder.  I had visited family medicine, to

20 pulmonologist, to cardiologist and endocrinologist.

21 Because my blood sugar was high.  I started to receive

22 medicine to control my blood sugar level.  However, the

23 doctors claimed that I was young and the other results

24 of the test were normal.  So I was supposed to be fine,

25 even I didn't feel well.  So basically the only doctor
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1 who treat me instantly was a pulmonologist

2 (indiscernible).  They gave me treatment to stabilize my

3 asthma, although they say by the time that they didn't

4 know the cause of those post-COVID symptoms.

5           So I basically had to conduct my own research

6 to know what kind of recovery measures I can apply to

7 myself.  So I didn't receive physical therapy or

8 referral to a rehabilitation program.  I do had to visit

9 a psychologist for the anxiety and depression because it

10 was hard to know that I was not the same person I was

11 before COVID.  So I spent two months unemployed because

12 I was not able to work.  I had to regret accepting a job

13 offer with benefits as an infection control coordinator

14 in Florida.  And then after two months of that, I

15 started to work in Puerto Rico as well as an infection

16 control coordinator.  But I didn't feel well enough yet

17 to drive or to walk.  I had to do it because I was

18 economically compromised.

19           So when I started to work, I noticed that I

20 couldn't do the rounds in the hospital with the same

21 ability that I used to.  I had to take breaks in the

22 middle of my shift and get some rest in my car and then

23 go back to work.  I also experienced brain fog, but

24 fortunately I got a position as a disease intervention

25 specialist developing a surveillance system for long
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1 COVID in Puerto Rico which required less physical

2 effort, but my brain fog made my performance difficult.

3           MS. BENT:  Thank you.

4           SHAWNEE:  I had a problem interacting with

5 colleagues and it's something that I am still working

6 with it.

7           MS. BENT:  Thanks, Shawnee.  That really is

8 great of you to call in, and I apologize for the audio

9 issues that we had kind of to begin with.  But thank you

10 for hearing your experience.  It seems like it's had a

11 huge impact on your life.  So thank you.

12           So now let me turn to John on line seven.

13 John, I'm wondering if, once we get you on the line, if

14 you could maybe think about answering a question or two

15 for me, if you'd be willing.

16           JOHN:  Sure.  What's the question?

17           MS. BENT:  Thanks.  Yes.  So are there any

18 specific activities that are important to you that you

19 can't do or do as fully as you'd like because of your

20 long COVID?

21           JOHN:  Absolutely, and I think the activities

22 are the ones that would help my family.  I used to cook

23 all the dinners, I used to clean up downstairs, I used

24 to take the kids to the park and I can't do any of that

25 physical stuff anymore.  And I really have a lot of sort

Page 84

www.CapitalReportingCompany.com
202-857-3376



Public Meeting April 25, 2023

1 of internalized shame around not being able to provide

2 for my family by working and doing those tasks anymore.

3           MS. BENT:  Thank you.  Is there anything else

4 that you wanted to -- I know I kind of took you off of

5 what you called to talk about.  So is there anything

6 else that you wanted to talk about related to your long

7 COVID that you'd like to share briefly with us?

8           JOHN:  Sure.  I can do it real briefly.  Yeah.

9 I'm young.  I was vaccinated.  I had a really mild

10 illness or acute illness and I just never got better.

11 I've got a family with two young kids, used to be very

12 athletic and used to run and ski, work full-time.  And

13 after COVID, I just -- something wasn't right.  I was

14 weaker.  My heart rate started spiking.  Contacted the

15 doctor, they had no idea how to treat this.  They said,

16 just don't worry about it, and then just declined from

17 there and realized I have really bad post-exertional

18 malaise.

19           And that's just the important thing.  I want

20 to echo some of the other speakers is that the post-

21 exertional malaise is the most limiting symptom.  I

22 could deal with the fatigue.  I could deal with

23 everything else.  I could push through it and get what I

24 needed to get done.  But because I have that payback

25 with the post-exertional malaise, I have to really limit
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1 my activities.  So if there's some sort of treatment

2 around lowering that or letting our bodies recover, I

3 think that's the most important thing for the FDA to

4 hear.

5           MS. BENT:  Thank you.  Thank you.  Really

6 appreciate that.  Let me turn to Anne Marie on line ten.

7           ANNE MARIE:  Hello?

8           MS. BENT:  Hi, Anne Marie.  I'd like to hear

9 about your experiences, and it sounds like the

10 experiences of maybe your child with long COVID.  Also,

11 I think if you wouldn't mind talking to us a little bit

12 about whether your long COVID has changed over time from

13 its original diagnosis to now, that would be great for

14 us to hear about.  And once again, just a broad request

15 to speak slowly so that the interpretation is accurate.

16           ANNE MARIE:  Sure.

17           MS. BENT:  Thank you so much.

18           ANNE MARIE:  Like many of you, I'm no longer

19 afraid of the acute COVID illness.  But I've learned the

20 hard way that the story doesn't end when the initial

21 symptoms subside.  At the end of March 2022, three of

22 the six of us in our house contracted COVID for the

23 first time.  We were all fully vaccinated and boosted.

24 Despite being young and healthy, my 14-year-old son Luke

25 and I never fully recovered after our infection.  Luke
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1 initially improved slightly, but after overdoing it at a

2 Scout event in May, he went into a huge crash that he

3 has still not recovered from.  He is now only doing

4 school virtually from either bed or the couch.

5           While I had been substitute teaching, I now

6 struggle to take care of my basic needs or do an

7 occasional chore.  We are shells of the people we were

8 before COVID and lead a very limited life now.  For the

9 first few months, I just waited and expected we'd get

10 better.  But eventually I realized I needed to start

11 researching, and I haven't stopped learning ever since.

12 We've seen dozens of doctors, both locally in New York

13 City and Philadelphia.  We've had blood work, x-rays,

14 MRIs, CAT scans, ultrasounds, physical therapy,

15 myofascial release therapy, chiropractic and acupuncture

16 with the hopes that someone is going to be able to help.

17           But the truth is there is no cure and no one

18 is an expert because long COVID is still too new.  There

19 are only things to help minimize the symptoms to help us

20 function a little better.  In addition to the cost for

21 all of this, which isn't all covered by insurance, the

22 energy to figure out what to try, where to go and then

23 actually attend all these appointments is truly

24 exhausting.  I've been diagnosed with dyssomnia, cough

25 and mild emphysema despite never having smoked.  And I'm
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1 exploring hypermobility, connective tissue diseases,

2 ME/CFS, craniocervical instabilities.  So the work is

3 not done.

4           We both spend about 90 percent of our day

5 laying down.  We are not able to have our legs down or

6 our heads up for any period of time.  Our biggest issue

7 is debilitating fatigue, fatigue that makes me struggle

8 to hold my arm up long enough to brush my teeth or wash

9 my hair.  It's debating if I should just deal with the

10 pain from laying in one position for too long because

11 the idea of getting enough energy to roll over is

12 unbearable.  It's watching my once active teenager crawl

13 up the stairs to get to bed.

14           The second most challenging symptom is post-

15 exertional malaise, or PEM.  Even if we think we have

16 the energy to do simple tasks, we run the risk of having

17 PEM afterwards.  It can take several days after any kind

18 of physical, mental or emotional energy for it to catch

19 up with us, making our 20-plus symptoms flare.

20           Because of these symptoms, our family has

21 missed out a lot over the last year.  We had to cancel

22 our family vacation to Disney last summer.  We have no

23 idea if or when we'll be able to reschedule, as we don't

24 even have the ability to be upright long enough to have

25 dinner at a restaurant, let alone take a big trip like
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1 that.

2           MS. BENT:  So thank you for sharing that.

3           ANNE MARIE:  I'm sorry.  I have more to add,

4 if possible.

5           MS. BENT:  Sure.  We do have just about 10

6 minutes left before we go to break, and we do have a few

7 other callers on the phone.  But if you want to finish

8 up, that would be -- that would be -- go ahead.

9           ANNE MARIE:  Sure.  (indiscernible) real

10 quick.  There's a fine line between maintaining hope

11 that we'll be cured and learning how to live with a

12 chronic illness.  Our physical therapist has been

13 critical in teaching us ways to improve our quality of

14 life.  I cried leaving our first appointment because it

15 was the first time I felt like someone understood what

16 was going on.  We've been taught that if we overdo it,

17 we could risk creating a long-term setback like what

18 happened with Luke.

19           The biggest thing we've learned is the need to

20 rest (indiscernible).  I basically have 10 to 15 minutes

21 of being upright before I start to have problems.  I

22 have a handicap placard for my car so I can limit my

23 walking, a shower chair, compression socks if we know

24 we're going to have our legs down for more than a few

25 minutes.  I use noise-canceling earplugs and Luke wears
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1 sunglasses for overwhelmingly heightened sensitivity.

2 I've learned how to feel better doing nothing.  I'm not

3 yet able to feel better when I do much of anything.

4 While most of the world has moved on, COVID isn't over

5 for my family.  Even the healthy members of our family

6 still take precautions out in public in order to avoid

7 getting infected, and either, A, getting long COVID

8 themselves since there seems to be anecdotal evidence of

9 a genetic connection, or, B, getting me and Luke sick

10 again and risk losing whatever progress we've made.

11           MS. BENT:  Thank you.  Let's turn now to

12 Sawyer on line three.  Hi, Sawyer.  Thank you for

13 calling in to share your experiences with us.  Okay.

14 Moving on -- hello?  Okay,  We'll move on to Tina on

15 line four.

16           TINA:  Hi.  Thank you.

17           MS. BENT:  Hi, Tina.  I know that you might

18 have some things that you want to talk to us about, and

19 we'd very much like to hear them, but I'd also really

20 appreciate it if maybe you could touch on whether your

21 long COVID has changed at all from its original

22 diagnosis.

23           TINA:  Sure, no problem.  So I got sick in

24 July of 2020, and I will say that the first year and a

25 half, about 18 months, was the hardest.  I was severe at
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1 that point, possibly very severe.  Now I'm moderate, so

2 it has improved a bit, not from any specific treatment

3 so much as managing my post-exertional malaise with

4 strict pacing.  Also, I call it giving up everything you

5 love.  So not walking, not trying to hike.  I had to

6 stop working completely.  I couldn't even manage working

7 from home.

8           Previously, right before COVID, I had

9 backpacked the Appalachian Trail, part of it, and I

10 volunteered for six different organizations.  I worked

11 full-time as a project manager.  I played ukulele and

12 sang.  All of those things had to be given up.  I'm now

13 diagnosed with long COVID, POTS and ME/CFS.

14           I just wanted to add that it really has stolen

15 almost the entirety of my life.  I had to give up my

16 house and move in with my parents as well.  I now use a

17 wheelchair to leave my house, to go shopping, and I have

18 a shower chair and other aides at home.  I just don't

19 have an ability to be upright, to cook, to shower

20 upright, to walk, to socialize with friends or work in

21 any capacity without creating post exertional malaise.

22 To echo someone else, I can take stimulants to get

23 through the fatigue on a certain day.  But I experience

24 a crash for anywhere from four hours to a month.  Last

25 summer, I was bedbound for a month.  So I just wanted to
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1 add that this really has stolen my life away.  So I

2 appreciate you holding this meeting and listening.

3 Thank you.

4           MS. BENT:  Sorry about that.  So let's turn to

5 the final call that we're going to be able to take

6 before moving to the break.  I'm going to turn to Kailin

7 on line five to hear about some of your experiences.

8 So, Kailin, if you wouldn't mind just briefly giving us

9 a little bit about your experiences.

10           KAILIN:  Yeah.  Can you hear me?

11           MS. BENT:  Yes, we can.  Thank you.

12           KAILIN:  Okay, great.  Thank you so much for

13 letting me speak.  I think my experience probably echoes

14 a lot of people's here.  I was 30 years old, extremely

15 active, no preexisting conditions, and I went from doing

16 40-mile backpacking trips to about a month after getting

17 a COVID infection in June 2022 to basically being in bed

18 18 to 20 hours a day.

19           Like so many people who have spoken here, I

20 was diagnosed with POTS, postural orthostatic

21 tachycardia syndrome, myalgic encephalomyelitis or

22 chronic fatigue syndrome, and small fiber neuropathy.

23 And I'd like to emphasize that these are all lifelong

24 chronic illnesses with no known cure and there's very

25 little treatment.  So I think in looking at treatments
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1 with about half or more of people with long COVID

2 experiencing these other post-viral illnesses, it's

3 really important to look at the treatments and research

4 that's already out there with some of these post-viral

5 illnesses.

6           These illnesses lead to a whole large

7 constellation of symptoms, like a lot of people have

8 spoken.  I have probably over about 30 symptoms once I

9 list them all out.  And I would say in terms of

10 progression, in the first four to five months of my

11 illness, these were extremely limiting.  I was working

12 full-time as a journalist and a videographer, and I was

13 completely unable to work for about nine months.  I,

14 like I said, was in bed about 18 to 20 hours a day, and

15 lying down was the only thing that made me feel any sort

16 of any better.

17           I have everything from tachycardia, numbness

18 and tingling, to extreme heat and cold intolerance,

19 extreme fatigue, exercise intolerance, and a big thing

20 people have been talking about a lot, post-exertional

21 malaise, which I'd like to emphasize is a little

22 different from exercise intolerance.  Sometimes I can do

23 an activity in the moment or exercise in the moment, but

24 then hours or a day or two days later, I'm left with a

25 severe flare-up of my symptoms.
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1           The cognitive piece is also absolutely huge

2 one.  I often find myself messing up words, unable to

3 find words, unable to write or swapping in different

4 words when I write, which is hard as a journalist and

5 often feel like I'm thinking through mud.  And those

6 kind of post-exertional malaise crashes can be pretty

7 severe.

8           I've had people describe it to me, and this

9 sums up my experience pretty well as like a conscious

10 coma, like the world is going by around you.  You can

11 hear everything, you can see what's going on, but you

12 can't move or speak or even really form thoughts.  And

13 it's extremely disabling.

14           I have gotten a bit better, and the only way

15 that I have gotten better is with medications to deal

16 with POTS as well as just honestly extreme rest.  Like I

17 said, being unable to work and just trying not to exert

18 myself as much as possible and practicing pacing,

19 periods of rest and exertion have helped.  So I've

20 gotten a bit better, but I would not say I'm recovered.

21 I'm still nowhere near the person that I used to be.

22           MS. BENT:  Thank you.  That is helpful and I

23 appreciate you kind of speaking to the little bit of

24 improvement.  I'm glad there's some.  I certainly wish

25 that there was more for you and for everyone that we're
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1 hearing from today.  So right before we head to break,

2 and I know we're at time, but I'm going to turn to

3 Shannon just to give us a brief summary of the comments

4 that we received through the Web.

5           So go ahead, Shannon.

6           MS. SPARKLIN:  Thank you, Robyn.  We're seeing

7 several comments regarding flare-ups of symptoms and

8 symptoms that are random and unpredictable.  I've also

9 seen several comments regarding exercise intolerance or

10 energy crashes related to post-exertional malaise.

11           Many people in the comments described how they

12 used to be very active and now they're unable to

13 exercise.  They have energy crashes throughout the day,

14 and they're exhausted from simple activities.

15           I'm going to read a few comments that we

16 received regarding the impact of the symptoms of long

17 COVID on daily life.  One individual stated that they're

18 not able to prepare their own meals, they eat cereal and

19 milk twice a day, they cannot clean, they're single and

20 live alone without family help and no financial

21 resources to pay for the things that they need.

22           Another commenter wrote in that they have had

23 long COVID for over nine months.  Prior to getting acute

24 COVID and long COVID, they would bike 25 miles twice a

25 week and they were enjoying their best life.  Now they
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1 state that they cannot walk slowly for more than 30

2 minutes without getting post-exertional malaise the

3 lasts two to five days, which results in total fatigue.

4           Another commenter discussed their reduced work

5 availability and schedule and difficulties with being

6 self-employed and how their income has been reduced

7 dramatically as a result of their long COVID symptoms.

8           Another comment stated that I was a very

9 active mom who practiced yoga and ran half marathons

10 before I tested positive for COVID in April 2020.  Three

11 years later, I still struggle with fatigue, severe brain

12 fog, migraines and the effects of POTS, which includes

13 heart palpitations, increased heart rate and painful

14 blood pooling upon standing.  I have extreme issues with

15 ADLs such as showering and cooking.  ADL stands for

16 activities of daily living.  She stated that they're a

17 military family with their primary care doctor on base

18 and that continuity of care has been an issue as

19 physicians change bases often.

20           So those are just a few of the comments that

21 we have received.  Thank you.

22           MS. BENT:  Thanks, Shannon.  So now we're

23 going to go to break.  I apologize to those of you who

24 were on the phone who we weren't able to get to.  Once

25 again, I do want to give a quick plug for the docket
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1 comments.  I think we've barely scratched the surface

2 today as far as the daily impacts of what you are all

3 experiencing on a daily basis.  So please consider

4 sharing your comments to the public docket to expand

5 upon what you've shared so far.  We're now going to

6 break for about 27 minutes and we'll be back to

7 reconvene at 12:45 Eastern Time.  So thank you all and

8 thank you to our panelists and our callers who really

9 got this meeting off to a great start, and I look

10 forward to seeing you all back in just a few minutes.

11 Thank you.

12           (Recess)

13 TOPIC 2: CURRENT APPROACHES TO TREATMENT

14           MS. BENT:  Welcome back, everyone.  I hope you

15 had a great break.  We have a limited time, so we're

16 going to move straight into topic two.  As we mentioned

17 before, topic two will focus on current approaches to

18 treatment for long COVID, your experiences and your

19 perspectives on that, what you're currently doing to

20 treat your long COVID, and whether you feel like your

21 long COVID is well managed and finally, what are you

22 looking for in a treatment for long COVID.

23           We have five panelists who will start off our

24 discussion by sharing their experiences.  And before we

25 launch into our panelists' experiences, I just want to
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1 let you know that our first question for the open

2 discussion session is what are you currently doing to

3 treat or manage your long COVID, how has your treatment

4 regimen changed over time and why and what symptoms

5 would you like most to be improved or resolved by

6 treatment.

7           So now, as I mentioned, we're about 30 minutes

8 away from people calling in to share their answers.  And

9 now I'd like to welcome our session two panelists and

10 thank them for joining us today.  I'd like to start by

11 inviting Stephanie to share her experiences with long

12 COVID.

13           Stephanie, if you want to, go ahead.

14           MS. HUGHES:  Sure.  Thank you.

15           MS. BENT:  Thanks.

16           MS. HUGHES:  Thank you, Robyn.  My name is

17 Stephanie Mitchell Hughes.  I am from Columbus, Ohio,

18 and I've had long COVID since February of 2021.  My

19 treatment for long COVID consists of being a patient at

20 the post-COVID recovery program that was established by

21 the Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center in

22 response to COVID-19 patients who were returning with

23 symptoms that some of which were not -- were very

24 different from what they experienced with the COVID-19.

25           And as a patient in the clinic, I received a
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1 checkup initially across all of the major systems within

2 my body, including my lungs and my cardiac system, and

3 my long COVID affected from a physical perspective my

4 pulmonary system.  And so I was sent to and became part

5 of the pulmonary rehabilitation department.  And I also

6 at the same time became part of the physical medicine

7 department because I received treatment in the physical

8 medicine department for brain fog.

9           And with respect to the pulmonary rehab

10 department, in July of 2021, I started pulmonary rehab.

11 I completed 24 sessions of pulmonary rehab by October of

12 2021.  The pulmonary rehab consisted of two sessions

13 twice a week on Tuesdays and Thursdays.  And initially

14 we did an initial walking exercise just so that they

15 could gauge where we were.

16           I had a smaller group of people who -- two to

17 three other people who were in my group who were also

18 patients in the post-COVID recovery program.  And we

19 also were constantly monitored by two to three

20 rehabilitation -- I'm sorry, respiratory therapists.

21 Our first exercise was the treadmill.  As I am still

22 told, it is the most important machine that we used.

23 And we also used a bike.  There was a bike that we used

24 and they have bikes of different levels that you can use

25 when you were doing the bike exercise.  We also did and
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1 worked on something called an arm ergometer.  And then

2 we did some free weights and some standing and sitting

3 exercises.

4           The goal was not so much to increase

5 necessarily speed, but rather capacity and the length of

6 time that we were able to do a particular exercise or

7 work on a particular machine, and we were always

8 encouraged to work at our own pace.

9           One of the other things that they did was we

10 were also weighed.  At the beginning of each week, we

11 were weighed to see if we were losing weight.  And there

12 were also a few classes that we could call in and listen

13 to if we wanted.

14           I decided after the 24 sessions of pulmonary

15 rehab, and there are 24 sessions because that's the

16 number that my then health insurance paid for.  And I

17 decided to continue on with pulmonary maintenance.  And

18 I typically go to pulmonary maintenance on Tuesdays and

19 Thursdays in the early afternoon.  And in pulmonary

20 maintenance, I work alone.  I don't have -- well, the

21 respiratory therapists and other people in pulmonary

22 rehabilitation are there if we need to ask questions, if

23 I have questions or something like that.  But I do

24 pulmonary maintenance alone.  Unlike with pulmonary

25 rehab, I don't have a respiratory therapist asking me
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1 how hard I'm working or measuring my respiration or

2 something like that.  And so that's the one thing that I

3 continue to do consistently.

4           I also initially when I was working with

5 someone from physical medicine on brain fog, there were

6 a number of -- what they were trying were a number of

7 different medications that would treat symptoms.  So,

8 for example, one of the medications that I took was an

9 old Parkinson's drug called, and I figured out the name,

10 amantadine and really didn't like that very much.  And

11 so I decided to stop taking it.  And I just continue if

12 I need to call in for support.  There are a number of

13 different healthcare practitioners who I have in the

14 program, and I can call any of them for support at any

15 time.  So my primary person is the person who I call my

16 long COVID internist.

17           MS. BENT:  Thank you.  That's great input.

18 It's wonderful to hear that you've been able to kind of

19 get plugged into care, and hopefully it's really having

20 a great impact.  So thank you for that.

21           So I am going to move on to Jackie right now.

22 But thank you so much, Stephanie, for sharing that.

23 Thanks.  Jackie, let me turn to you.  Are you ready to

24 share your experiences?

25           MS. LUCIANO:  Yes.  Can you hear me okay?
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1           MS. BENT:  Yes, I can.  Thank you.

2           MS. LUCIANO:  Great.  All right.  Thank you,

3 Robyn, for the introduction and to the FDA for inviting

4 me to be here to share my perspective.  I'm a current

5 long hauler since January 2022 and have complex

6 associated conditions such as dysautonomia, POTS and

7 suspected myalgic encephalomyelitis.  I had to put my

8 career on hold as a regulatory nurse consultant.  I

9 suffer daily from several symptoms of long COVID, and

10 finding treatment for these symptoms has been an

11 insurmountable challenge.

12           I've been bounced around over a dozen

13 specialists and was often refused treatment because they

14 were either not FDA approved for long COVID, blood work

15 was normal or there are not enough studies.  Initially,

16 I was prescribed daily exercise, and I learned the hard

17 way that this caused harm, and I've been suffering the

18 consequences since then.  Thanks to advocacy groups such

19 as MEAction and Long COVID Justice, I learned what post-

20 exertional malaise is and tips on how to stop, rest and

21 pace, which I must continue to do every day because,

22 yes, exercise still causes me harm now.

23           By October 2022, I couldn't complete rehab due

24 to the post-exertional malaise, and I was still being

25 prescribed more medications despite taking over 30 pills
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1 a day, and kept having adverse effects.  During an ER

2 visit for an acute flare, I was appalled that I was

3 treated inhumanely by healthcare staff, and I'm

4 disgusted by how the medical system is still failing

5 patients.  Thanks to a wonderful online community who

6 have shared their experiences with complex conditions, I

7 have learned about and tried various interventions,

8 noting that what has worked for others may or may not

9 work for me and vice versa.

10           Partnering with providers who believe me, who

11 keep up with the latest research and who help me

12 prioritize treatments for viral clearance, sleep,

13 dysautonomia, hormonal balance and staying within my

14 energy envelope have allowed me to better manage my

15 symptoms and activate my body's innate ability to heal.

16 Examples include vagus nerve stimulation,

17 neurobiofeedback, mitochondria and neuroimmune infection

18 control supplements.  I started avoiding dairy and

19 gluten to decrease inflammation and reintroduce

20 massages, acupuncture and chiropractic care to help with

21 lymphatic drainage, circulation and pain management.

22           I also have to pay for IV hydration and

23 electrolyte replacement at private clinics to prevent ER

24 visits.  I weaned off of several prescribed medications

25 because I was either getting more side effects or I no
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1 longer needed them.  But I do continue on hormone

2 replacement therapy, antihistamines, midodrine and

3 supplements.  There's been a lot of trial and error, and

4 thankfully I am currently sleeping better and have

5 improved blood flow.  But I still experience fluctuating

6 disabling symptoms.  Thus, all of the above are still

7 not enough.

8           We need an operation warp speed for

9 diagnostics and treatments for long COVID and associated

10 conditions.  Treatments need to address inflammation,

11 viral persistence and reactivation, immune system

12 dysregulation, hypoperfusion, mast cells, hormonal

13 imbalances, menstrual cycles, microclots, cognitive gut,

14 autonomic dysfunction and more.  Each person is unique;

15 therefore, treatment plans must be individualized and in

16 addition to addressing the root physiological causes of

17 symptoms, the overall goals must be to safely improve

18 one's functional baseline and quality of life as many of

19 us are still grieving our former selves.

20           I'm grateful to have access to a range of

21 providers, but I wish care was accessible and affordable

22 to all who need it.  The best resources and information

23 are from the patient community, who generously use their

24 scant energy for the benefit of others.  The information

25 we need has not been available by government agencies
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1 nor the medical establishment, and I was one of those

2 nurses, but not anymore.  In collaboration with fellow

3 long haulers and allies, we started a global toolkit to

4 help empower patients and caregivers to provide hope and

5 to remind everyone not to give up.  Stay tuned.  Thank

6 you so much for recognizing us patients with lived

7 experiences as experts and how post-infection associated

8 conditions can no longer be ignored.  Together, we will

9 make a difference.  Thank you.

10           MS. BENT:  Thank you, Jackie.  Really, really

11 appreciate you sharing your experiences.  Let me turn

12 now to Daniel.  Daniel, if you want to go ahead and

13 share your experiences, we would very much appreciate

14 it.

15           MR. LEWIS:  Thank you, Robyn.  When long COVID

16 has taken everything from you, your money, your job and

17 career, and all your goals in life, when long COVID has

18 taken your appetite, your sleep, your breath, your

19 comfort in your own body, your ability to stand or move,

20 your balance and your memories, when it's taken your

21 whole life outside your home, your sense of belonging,

22 your dreams for the future, your independence, your

23 dignity, your security and your freedom, all you have

24 left is hope that research into treatments will deliver

25 you from immiseration and your unthinkable fear that you
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1 will never get better.

2           We need safe treatment options now.  Three

3 years have passed.  Over a billion dollars has been

4 spent on research without producing a single approved

5 treatment.  Hundreds of billions of dollars have been

6 spent on healthcare and hundreds of billions more on

7 lost productivity, lost wages and disability.

8           We have experienced unfathomable suffering and

9 loss.  We do not have three more years.  We will not

10 survive three more years.  I have seen countless doctors

11 and taken over a dozen different medications, but they

12 are all for symptom management or they're ridiculous

13 long shots, nothing that we expected to heal me and none

14 of them has fundamentally improved my condition.  And

15 nothing can manage my most disabling symptoms related to

16 exertion.

17           I take a beta blocker and midodrine for POTS

18 and Bupropion for fatigue.  They are the only things I

19 have found that help at all.  And they only help a tiny

20 bit.  I am missing work and I can't access disability

21 benefits.  I am missing weddings and bat mitzvahs and

22 holidays.  I am missing time with my family, friends and

23 community.  I am missing my chance to get married and

24 start a family.  I have lost over ten pounds and my

25 muscle mass is depleted.  I am literally wasting away.
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1 This is a matter of life and death for many, and for the

2 rest of us, it is a matter of life and a life so

3 circumscribed by disability and pain that it's hardly a

4 life at all.

5           We need safe treatment options now.  Trial

6 ambitious new treatments that modify this disease and

7 give us a fighting chance at recovery.  Launch new

8 clinical trials today.  We are waiting for our chance to

9 try sulodexide, Ampligen, Inspiritol, temelimab,

10 ibudilast, BC 007, RSLV-132 and many other drugs still

11 in development.  Use crossover trials, expanded access,

12 emergency use authorization, accelerated approval, fast

13 track all the tools at your disposal to get these

14 potentially lifesaving treatments to patients.

15           And while we wait for novel treatments we need

16 to be able to try antivirals for COVID, antivirals for

17 reactivated viruses, JAK/STAT inhibitors, anticoagulants

18 and antiplatelets, metformin, combination maraviroc and

19 pravastatin, and all the other drugs that already have

20 FDA approval and have shown promise in early research

21 but are still hard to get.

22           Both primary care physicians and specialists

23 don't know what to do with us.  Doctors need clear and

24 direct clinical guidance to prescribe these potentially

25 lifesaving treatments to patients.
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1           This illness is defined by loss, and we are

2 losing everything, even our memories and our sense of

3 who we are.  We are hanging on by a thread.  That thread

4 is the hope that things will change, that the NIH will

5 fund clinical trials for ambitious long COVID

6 treatments, that researchers will understand long

7 COVID's disease process and how to interrupt it, that

8 drug manufacturers will recognize that if the U.S. has

9 already spent over half a trillion dollars on medical

10 expenses related to long COVID, then we'd be willing to

11 spend a hell of a lot more than that on a treatment that

12 works, that the FDA will authorize promising long COVID

13 treatments without delay, that clinicians will treat

14 their patients with compassion and urgency,

15 administering treatments ethically and equitably, that

16 patients will have the treatments they need to live and

17 that we will be so successful that we can use America's

18 response to long COVID as a model for how the world

19 should treat all patients with debilitating chronic

20 illnesses.  Thank you.

21           MS. BENT:  Thank you, Daniel.  Let us now turn

22 to Tammy to hear some of your experiences.  Tammy?

23           MS. WILSHIRE:  Hi.  Good afternoon.  My name

24 is Tammy Wilshire.  I became a COVID long hauler as a

25 result of a March 2020 initial infection.  My
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1 experience, especially in regards to seeking treatment

2 options, is a long and very complex story.

3           I think it is important to mention that I am a

4 resident of a small rural farming and coal mining

5 community in the west central Appalachian Mountains of

6 Pennsylvania.  Due to this, my access to care was and

7 still is very limited; therefore, my biggest challenge

8 to receiving proper treatment.

9           Early in the pandemic, we did not have access

10 to COVID testing here.  As a result, I found that a

11 presumptive positive test did not allow me to take

12 advantage of a lot of the care clinics and treatments

13 that later became available.  My treatment is a

14 continually evolving plan.  We put out the major fires

15 such as cardiac issues and endocrine issues, while

16 ignoring the other more minor fires, such as

17 neurological issues and pain management.  I had to deal

18 with most of these things myself, with some help from my

19 caring but overwhelmed primary care physician.

20           Even when I was hospitalized with cardiac

21 issues in July of 2020, I heard frequently it must be

22 anxiety, and I was not taken seriously.  It took me

23 almost 18 months to begin to find help, mostly through

24 specialty doctors over two hours away, and through long

25 COVID groups online.  To date, I have tried physical
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1 therapy, supplements like vitamin C, D3, B12 and

2 magnesium, beta blockers for my tachycardia, gabapentin

3 and other neuro meds for the tremors and the worsening

4 fibromyalgia, statins for increased cholesterol and

5 vascular inflammation from COVID, pain creams, muscle

6 relaxers, anti-nausea and GERD medications and more with

7 just limited success.

8           Of these treatments, I initially had the most

9 success with physical therapy.  I saw an improvement in

10 my stamina/strength and in my POTS heart rate.  However,

11 after about two weeks, as we added more exercises, I

12 began to feel a lot worse.  My ME/CFS relapsed with

13 crippling fatigue.  After PT, I would find myself

14 needing to rest.  Eventually, I was bedbound again for a

15 day or two following the session due to the post-

16 exertional malaise, and I had to discontinue physical

17 therapy due to exercise intolerance.

18           Due to new endocrine and GI issues, I've had

19 to change my diet to a low carb and anti-inflammatory

20 plan.  I have to make time to eat every three hours in

21 order to keep my blood sugar stable.  This requires

22 quite a lot of effort and planning while balancing my

23 energy levels, and it still isn't completely solving

24 these issues for me.

25           I would 100 percent say that my long COVID is
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1 not well-managed at this time.  After three years and

2 two probable COVID infections, I am just now being

3 examined by specialists for issues that started in 2020.

4 The dynamics of my symptom presentation have definitely

5 changed.  Some things have gotten better on their own or

6 with some medical management, but I still suffer with

7 quite a lot of symptoms that are not well-controlled

8 for various reasons.

9           I fully suspect that there will be no one size

10 fits all cure for long COVID.  Each individual is unique

11 in their presentations and their symptoms.  However,

12 just an improvement in pain relief and fatigue would be

13 amazing.  Thank you for allowing me to share a small

14 part of my long COVID journey with you today.

15           MS. BENT:  Thank you, Tammy.  Thank you for

16 sharing that with us.  And for our final panelist, we're

17 going to hear from Angela.

18           Angela, if you want to go ahead.

19           MS. VAZQUEZ:  Great.  Thank you so much.  And

20 thank you to the FDA for hosting this important forum on

21 long COVID.  My name is Angela M. Vazquez and I am

22 president of Body Politic, a grassroots health justice

23 organization and home to one of the first global COVID-

24 19 patient support groups.

25           Before getting COVID here in Los Angeles in
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1 March 2020, I was a runner for nearly two decades.  What

2 started as a mild illness progressed over weeks with an

3 increasingly scary set of symptoms including severe

4 blood clots, a series of mini strokes, brain swelling,

5 seizures, painful heart palpitations, severe shortness

6 of breath, extreme confusion and numbness in my face,

7 hands and legs that progressed to an inability to walk

8 for several days and new onset of anaphylaxis.  All of

9 these were largely untreated and not even acknowledged

10 by physicians for nearly a year.

11           So the first thing I would like to emphasize

12 is that long COVID patients from the first and second

13 waves of the pandemic had a fundamentally different

14 trajectory than those who came after us.  Just because

15 we weren't hospitalized does not mean we shouldn't have

16 been.  In fact, we experienced severe but unaddressed

17 symptoms in 2020 and also come from communities of

18 color, represent some of the sickest and most medically

19 marginalized patients that deserve urgent specific

20 treatment and prioritized access to clinical trials.

21           With long COVID, I now have several chronic

22 conditions, including ME/CFS.  My most debilitating

23 symptom is known as post-exertional malaise, but which I

24 experience as post-exertion neuroimmune dysregulation.

25 My PEM is composed of my worst symptoms like insomnia,
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1 cognitive dysfunction and confusion, sleep apnea, heart

2 palpitations, fevers and chills, severe migraines, joint

3 and muscle pain, invisible tremors and muscle jerks.  I

4 have developed a strict pacing regimen that allows me to

5 work from home full-time but not do much else.

6           My long COVID conditions (indiscernible)

7 others come out to play in short order.  I take 15

8 different medications regularly, many several times a

9 day, and most to manage my mast cell activation and

10 autoimmune inflammation.  I also get weekly four hour

11 Benadryl and saline infusions.  I'm on a number of

12 expensive supplements to support my mitochondrial

13 health, and I also now have severe joint and nerve pain

14 in my neck and face, and an MRI has shown marked disc

15 degeneration in my neck.

16           My doctors suspect that long COVID triggered

17 inflammatory arthritis in my cervical spine and could be

18 driving many of my neuroimmune symptoms, something I've

19 learned is not uncommon for patients like me with

20 inherited or acquired connective tissue disorders.  I am

21 currently exploring regenerative medicine options for my

22 neck, as physical therapy has only been marginally

23 effective.  None of these treatments address the core

24 drivers of my long COVID.

25           One of the biggest ongoing barriers to getting
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1 treatment is the lack of providers knowledgeable about

2 infection-associated chronic conditions who can make

3 accurate clinical diagnoses and develop a coherent

4 treatment plan.

5           I highly recommend clinical trials not base

6 their cohorts exclusively on diagnosis-based conditions,

7 but also include symptom clusters that reflect the

8 evolving knowledge of these conditions, so those who

9 lack access to knowledgeable providers, especially low

10 income people of color, are not excluded from treatment

11 trials.

12           Finally, I was also recently reinfected and I

13 was lucky enough to get an extended course of Paxlovid

14 for 15 days per the clinical trials for long COVID.  My

15 conditions flared quite extensively for several weeks

16 and my post-exertion malaise is now much more prominent.

17 I highly recommend clinical trials build in protocols to

18 manage worsening of symptoms, especially when treating

19 chronic infections.  For example, chronic Lyme disease

20 patients (indiscernible) regarding what is

21 (indiscernible) to antibiotic treatment.  Despite an

22 extended flare, Paxlovid seems to have prevented a

23 significant (indiscernible) in my cognitive dysfunction

24 and also seems to have eased my gastrointestinal issues.

25 The gut-brain axis of mutually reinforcing inflammation
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1 appears key for me.  I was also one of the few who

2 improved after my first vaccine.  So I am very

3 interested in how treating persistent or reactivated

4 infections could impact my long COVID.

5           So I'll close with saying that my request to

6 treatment developers (indiscernible) please focus on

7 this thing called post-exertion malaise.  While each

8 person's malaise may look different, it follows a unique

9 and distinct pattern across patients who have it.  We

10 need to know how it relates to mast cell activation and

11 blood clots, orthostatic intolerance and blood flow to

12 the brain and nervous system, how persistent infections

13 exhaust the immune system and erode connective tissue

14 surrounding the spinal cord.  The answers are there.  We

15 just have to look at the body much more globally than we

16 ever (indiscernible).

17           MS. BENT:  Thank you, Angela.  So, once again,

18 those are some really compelling and diverse

19 experiences, and I want to thank all of our panelists,

20 Stephanie, Jackie, Daniel, Tammy and Angela for sharing

21 their experiences.

22           So at this point, maybe let me turn to my

23 colleagues, FDA and HHS colleagues, to see if we have

24 any clarifying questions for the panelists before we

25 turn to some of the callers that we have.  So
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1 colleagues, I don't know if you have any questions.  If

2 not, maybe we can turn back to you after we take a few

3 calls from the callers.  All right.  I don't see that we

4 have any clarifying questions, which I think is a

5 testament to how clearly everybody was able to share

6 their experiences.

7           So let me then turn to our callers online.

8 Let me start with Sawyer on line one.

9 LARGE-GROUP FACILITATED DISCUSSION ON TOPIC 2

10           SAWYER:  Hello.  Can you hear me?

11           MS. BENT:  Yes, I can.  And before you get

12 started, there's a little bit of a challenge for our

13 interpreters with the phone clarity.  So if you would be

14 willing to just speak slowly and clearly to help

15 optimize our chances of successful interpretation, I'd

16 really appreciate that.

17           MR. BLATZ:  Yeah, definitely.

18           MS. BENT:  Thank you.

19           MR. BLATZ:  Yeah.  So I'm Sawyer Blatz.  I was

20 a previously healthy and extremely active 26 year old.

21 Long COVID has been devastating and life ruining for me

22 since my first mild infection in November of 2022.  I

23 eat a healthy diet, worked out five times a week, was

24 recently boosted and had no preexisting conditions.  I

25 have lost my work, my ability to leave the house, my
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